
 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
 
Date Friday 31 January 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. 
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2019                  
(Pages 5 - 10) 

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Number of Looked After Children - Update by Head of Children's 
Social Care   

6. Ofsted Updates   

7. Update from Investing in Children   
 

 Theme: Education, Employment and Training  
 

8. Supporting Care Leavers into Education, Employment and 
Training   

 a) Report of Strategic Lead, Progression and Learning          
(Pages 11 - 18) 

 b) Presentation  (Pages 19 - 34) 

9. Overview and Scrutiny Review, Children's Residential Care 
Homes - Report of Councillor Heather Smith, Chair of Children 
and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee            
(Pages 35 - 66) 

 
 



10. Quarter Two 2019/20 Performance   

 a) Report of Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager          
(Pages 67 - 70) 

 b) Scorecard  (Pages 71 - 74) 

 c) Presentation  (Pages 75 - 90) 

11. Durham Virtual School Annual Report 2018/19   

 a) Report of Interim Virtual School Head  (Pages 91 - 94) 

 b) Durham Virtual School Annual Report 2018-19               
(Pages 95 - 140) 

 c) Presentation  (Pages 141 - 146) 

12. Independent Reviewing Officer: Looked After Children and Child 
Protection Annual Reports 2018/19   

 a) Report of Operations Manager  (Pages 147 - 152) 

 b) Independent Reviewing Officer - Child Protection Annual 
Report Summary 2018/19  (Pages 153 - 160) 

 c) Independent Reviewing Officer - Looked After Children 
Annual Report Summary 2018/19  (Pages 161 - 168) 

13. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

14. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.   

Part B 
 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open 

to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 
15. Regulation 44 visits - Summary Report - Joint Report of Head of 

Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children  (Pages 169 - 264) 

16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.   

 
 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
County Hall 
Durham 
23 January 2020 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
To: The Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

 
 Councillor I Jewell (Chair) 

Councillor H Smith (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors B Bainbridge, H Bennett, vacancy, J Carr, 
J Charlton, J Considine, P Crathorne, vacancy, P Jopling, 
M McKeon, L Maddison, J Makepeace, O Milburn, C Potts, 
A Reed, G Richardson, E Scott, M Simmons, C Wilson  

 
 Co-opted Members  
 C Baines 
 K Myers 
 W Taylor 
 K Watson 

Young person representative of the Children in Care Council  
 

 Contact: Jill Hogg Tel: 03000 269 711 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL  
 

At a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Committee Room 2, 
County Hall, Durham on Friday 29 November 2019 at 9.30 am 
 
Present: 
 

Councillor P Brookes in the Chair 
 
Panel Members: 
Councillors J Carr,  J Charlton, J Considine, P Crathorne, J Grant, I Jewell,                     
C Potts, H Smith and C Wilson  
 
Co-Opted Members: 
C Baines and K Watson  
 
Also in attendance: 
Helen Fergusson (Head of Children’s Social Care) 
Robert Johnson (Project Manager, Investing in Children) 
Gillian Leckenby (Service Manager, CAMHS) 
Tamsin Lovell (Solicitor, Children and Adult Services)  
Claire Morris (Strategic Manager, Looked After Children, Resources) 
Martyn Stenton (Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children) 
Jayne Watson (Senior Partnerships Officer)  
Karen Watson (Acting Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Looked After 
Children) 
 
The Chair also welcomed young people of the Children in Care Council. 

 
1. Apologies 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Bainbridge, P Jopling,    
A Reed, E Scott, and, co-opted member W Taylor, and, officers F Callaghan and 
K Clayton. 
 

2. Substitute Members  
 

No substitute members were in attendance.  
 

3. Minutes 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on Friday 25 October 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record.  
 
The following matters arising were reported by the Senior Partnerships Officer:  
 

• Item 1 – An update on the Full Circle Service will be presented to a future 
meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



• Item 4 – In response to the request at the last meeting for information on 
the fostering panel vacancy, the Senior Partnerships Officer advised that 
meetings are held at Spectrum 8, Spectrum Business Park, Seaham, SR7 
7TT on the 4th Wednesday of every month, starting at 10 am, and meetings 
can run into the afternoon, depending on the agenda.  An email will be sent 
to all members requesting a volunteer to fill this vacancy. 

• Item 8 – Discussions are progressing with a view to young people from the 
Children in Care Council becoming involved in Regulation 44 visits.  

 

4. Declarations of interest   
 

There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5. Number of Looked After Children  
 

The Head of Children’s Social Care reported that the number of looked after 
children had risen to 899.  The increase is reflected locally and nationally, with the 
rate of looked after children in County Durham being higher than the national rate 
but lower than regional and statistical neighbours.  The underlying trends in the 
number of looked after children will be discussed at January’s meeting, as part of 
the quarterly performance update.   
 

6. Ofsted Updates  
 

The panel noted that the findings of recent Ofsted inspections will be shared at the 
January meeting. 
 

7. Update from Investing in Children 
 

The following update was provided by the Children in Care Council: 
 

• Work is continuing on the development of an Independent Living Skills 
pack, with discussions being held with foster carers, staff from the Children 
and Families teams, and, the SEND service.  The Head of Children’s Social 
Care requested that the information gathered be shared with her, to enable 
the service to progress this project.  

 

• Young people participated in an Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) team 
away day to air their views on meetings and care plans.  Young people 
have expressed that they would like care plans and meetings to have a 
more positive focus and that they would like their views on matters such as 
who should be present at meetings, to be given due consideration.  The 
away day was a great success and the IROs commented on how 
impressive the young people were.  As a result, information had been 
included in the IRO business plan and further meetings are being planned.                               
The Chair welcomed this positive step and the Head of Children’s Social 
Care added that consideration will be given to inviting the young people and 
IROs to a future panel meeting, to provide an update on service 
developments as a result of young people’s feedback.  

Page 6



 

• At a recent meeting with the Chief Executive, the young people talked about 
the Blue Light Card, which offers discounts to those working for the 
emergency services, and, discounts offered to some 6th form college 
students.  The young people suggested that similar incentives would be 
useful for looked after children, to help develop their money-management 
skills and promote independence.  The young people reported that the 
Chief Executive and the Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People are 
supportive of the idea.  The Head of Children’s Social Care agreed to look 
at the suggestion, adding that it may be that the Freedom Card could be 
developed further, to extend the offer. 

 

• At a recent meeting with the Full Circle team, the young people discussed 
the possibility of helping to design therapy session rooms.  This would bring 
additional benefit for the young people as it would provide them with the 
opportunity to be involved in a real project which could be included on their 
CVs.  Discussions have been held to look at the refurbishment of the Family 
Time room at Wheatley Hill Family Centre with a design around an 
interactive space. The Head of Children’s Social Care informed members 
that this is the seventh room undergoing refurbishment using monies 
donated from the members’ small grants funds.  The Head of Children’s 
Social Care clarified that Family Time rooms were formerly known as 
Contact rooms however the name was changed following feedback from the 
young people who requested that more positive terms be used. In a similar 
way, Risk Assessment forms are now called Safety Plans, changing the 
emphasis from negative to positive.  The Chair commented on the new 
terminology being a culture change adding that this is an example of the 
how important it is that the young people challenge services if they feel that 
improvements could be made.  

 

• On 8 January, teacher training will be held for designated leads for looked 
after children in secondary schools.    

 

• The young people have requested that more work is done to raise 
awareness of  child sexual exploitation, so that all services that young 
people may come into contact with can offer guidance on how to stay safe, 
as a preventative measure. 

 

• Some liaison work has been done with Durham University, to link the 
Children in Care Council with student volunteers.  The Chair emphasised 
the importance of linking with the university and it was agreed that a letter 
would be sent to the Vice Chancellor to initiate conversations to explore 
how the university could support the Corporate Parenting Panel to achieve 
the best possible outcomes for our children and young people.  The panel 
noted that the new Head of the Virtual School has been appointed, and, the 
Corporate Parenting Panel’s education representatives are members of the 
Virtual School Sub-Group.  

 

Page 7



• The Children in Care Council is aiming to have fifteen young people 
accredited to deliver training in 2020. 

 

• It was reported that the recent foster carer training went well with foster 
carers reporting that they were inspired by the young people.  

 

• Some of the young people have discussed developing an emergency 
comfort pack for those young people who are taken into emergency 
accommodation without any of their belongings.  The Head of Children’s 
Social Care pointed out that the instances of children and young people 
being taken into emergency care with none of their belongings are very rare 
as a lot of work has taken place to ensure these situations are well 
managed. 

 
The Annual Health Report was taken as the next item of business. 
 

8. Annual Health Report 2018-19 
 

Karen Watson, Acting Designated Nurse for Safeguarding and Looked After 
Children, presented the Annual Health Report 2018 – 2019 which provided 
information on the health profile of looked after children and young people.   
 
The report focused on service developments and improvements aligned with the 
key lines of enquiry set out in the Local Government Association’s corporate 
parenting resource packs for looked after children and care leavers (for copy of 
report see file of minutes). 
 
The panel welcomed Gillian Leckenby, Service Manager of the Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) who explained that the service had 
experienced a 20% increase in referrals over the year with a 28% increase in 
November.  As this was the third consecutive year that there had been an 
increase in November, the service is planning to carry out work to investigate this.  
The Service Manager explained that new Government funding has been made 
available for a Trailblazer scheme between schools and CAMHS to offer support 
and treatment within schools, in order that those in need of more specialist 
services can be identified at an early stage.  The Head of Children’s Social Care 
commented that this may be an area that the panel may wish to have more 
information on in the future.  
 
Panel members and the young people present were given the opportunity to ask 
health questions and raise specific issues in relation to mental health.  
 
Resolved: 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved.  
 
 
 

Page 8



9.  Residential Services Provision Update  
 

Claire Morris, Strategic Manager for Looked After Children Resources, presented 
the Residential Services Update report which provided an overview of Durham 
County Council’s in-house children’s residential care provision including the plans 
for future development (for copy see file of minutes).  In response to a question 
from Councillor Grant as how blockage can be avoided in respite provision, the 
Strategic Manager responded that the provision is not available seven days per 
week and the provision is outcome focused and managed around the needs of the 
young people for example, respite may only be required for particular days of the 
week, or, for a short time during school holidays.  
 
It was agreed that the Changing Lives video would be circulated to the panel, by 
email, following the meeting. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
Members discussed the following questions in groups and a note was taken of 
their discussion.  
 

• What could we as members do to support the tenth home in advance of it 
opening? 

• How could we get our communities to better support our homes and 
integrate the young people into the local communities? 

• How can we help share the positive achievements and stories from the 
young people who live in our homes? 

 

10. Exclusion of the public  
 

Resolved: 
 
That under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely discussion of exempt information as defined in paragraph 1 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

11.   Regulation 44 Visits: Summary Report  
 

The panel considered the monthly update on Regulation 44 visits and outstanding 
responsive repairs (for copy see file of minutes).  The Chair reported that a 
meeting had taken place with the Building and Facilities Maintenance Manager.    
 
Resolved: 
  
That the report be received. 
 

Page 9



12. Any other business  
 

The Chair announced that Children’s Services, including the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, has been shortlisted in the Local Government Chronicle awards.  
 
It was agreed that the next meeting, scheduled for 13 December, the day after the 
General Election, should be cancelled.  Items for information would be circulated 
by email outside of the meeting and items of business would be carried forward to 
the January meeting.  
 

Page 10



 

               

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

 31 January 2020 

 Supporting Care Leavers into 

Education, Employment and Training  

 

Report of Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead: Progression and Learning, 
Children and Young People’s Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To update members of the Corporate Parenting Panel on support 
available to Care Leavers to enable them to progress into Education, 
Employment and Training. 

Executive summary 

2 A number of actions have been undertaken in order to support more 
Care Leavers into Education, Employment and Training. These include 
transition support provided to Care Leavers during their final year at 
school, support provided through the DurhamWorks Programme, the 
introduction of a Durham County Council Pathway for Young People, as 
well as further measures to support Care Leavers into Durham County 
Council Apprenticeships.   

3 Outcomes from these actions are closely monitored and this report 
contains the latest performance data in relation to the participation of 
Care Leavers in Education, Employment and Training. This report also 
contains a summary of future priorities to support more Care Leavers 
into Education, Employment and Training.  

Recommendation 

4 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested to: 

(a) Note the information contained in this report and the presentation 
that will be given at the meeting. 

(b) Request any additional information required in relation to 
Education, Employment and Training opportunities for Care 
Leavers. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8a



Background 

5 At the Corporate Parenting Panel meeting on 31 January, a 
presentation will be made to highlight the actions that are being 
undertaken to support more Care Leavers into Education, Employment 
and Training, which will include:  

(a) An update on the DurhamWorks Programme; 

(b) Measures that are in place to support Care Leavers into Durham 
County Council Apprenticeships; 

(c) Performance data in relation to Care Leavers accessing 
Education, Employment and Training; 

(d) Future priorities to support Care Leavers into Education, 
Employment and Training. 

Transition Support 

6 In conjunction with support that Care Leavers receive in relation to their 
academic attainment, a range of other measures are in place in order to 
support their transition into post-16 Education, Employment and 
Training. These include the offer of individual careers guidance with a 
Specialist Progression Adviser; the opportunity to undertake work 
experience in occupational areas that are of interest to them through the 
Teenagers to Work programme; as well as the opportunity to meet and 
discuss their plans with a variety of opportunity providers at an annual 
Careers Event. Upon completion of their final year in school, Care 
Leavers are enrolled onto the DurhamWorks Programme.      

DurhamWorks Programme 

7 As highlighted in a previous report and presentation (25 January 2019), 
additional support for Care Leavers is provided through the 
DurhamWorks Programme. This European funded, Durham County 
Council led partnership project ensures that Care Leavers can benefit 
from additional resources, including: wrap-a-round support from a 
Specialist Progression Advisor; the opportunity to undertake bespoke 
activities to motivate and prepare them for employment; as well as a 
DurhamWorks Grant that is available to SME businesses to support the 
employment of young people – including Care Leavers.  

8 Since its inception, 562 young people who have been supported by the 
DurhamWorks Programme have identified themselves as being Looked 
After or a Care Leaver. Of these, 193 young people have completed the 
Programme, with 142 young people progressing into an Education, 
Employment or Training destination – a rate of 73.6%.  

Page 12



Re-engagement Programme 

9 A new re-engagement programme has been designed for young people 
who are NEET (Not in Education, Employment and Training). The 
programme provides intensive support across a twelve week period to 
enable young people to work towards participation in Education, 
Employment or Training. This is being utilised for identified Care 
Leavers who, at this stage, are unlikely to sustain participation in a 
mainstream Education, Employment or Training destination.    

New European Funded Programmes 

10 The current DurhamWorks Programme is funded until July 2021. 
However, new European funded programmes (DurhamDirections and 
DurhamEnable) are due to commence in 2020, subject to approval, 
which will prioritise support for Care Leavers.  

11 DurhamDirections is a £10m programme that will support over 6,000 
young people aged 15 – 24 who are at risk of becoming NEET / are 
NEET between August 2020 and December 2023.  This will ensure that 
Care Leavers receive wrap-a-round support from a Specialist 
Progression Advisor to make a sustained transition into Education, 
Employment and Training. 

12 DurhamEnable (Supported Employment Service) is a £3.6m 
programme that will support over 900 individuals who are aged 18 and 
above and have learning, physical and mental health barriers to 
employment between July 2020 and December 2023. Care Leavers 
who meet the eligibility criteria for the Service will receive support from 
a DurhamEnable Key Worker.        

Durham County Council Pathway for Young People   

13 Work is continuing to further embed the Pathway for Young People, 
which was developed to provide more opportunities for Care Leavers 
within Durham County Council - including work experience placements, 
Traineeships and Apprenticeships.  

14 The Pathway was originally piloted within Direct Services, who provided 
work experience and employment opportunities for Care Leavers within 
their teams. Some of these young people have progressed into positive 
destinations and discussions are taking place to establish more 
opportunities for Care Leavers during 2020.  

 

 

Page 13



Measures to support Care Leavers into Durham County Council 
Apprenticeships 

15 Further action has been undertaken to enhance the measures that are 
in place to support Care Leavers into Durham County Council 
Apprenticeships. For example, it has been agreed that six 
Apprenticeship opportunities will be ring-fenced specifically for Care 
Leavers as part of Durham County Council’s 2020 recruitment 
programme. A DurhamWorks Delivery Partner (Citizens Advice County 
Durham) will also deliver a pre-Apprenticeship programme to Care 
Leavers, in order to support them through the application process and 
prepare them for subsequent interviews.      

16 Five Care Leavers were offered opportunities during Durham County 
Council’s 2019 Apprenticeship recruitment programme. This included 
one opportunity within the Young People’s Service (Children and Young 
People’s Services) that was ring-fenced specifically for a Care Leaver. 

Performance Data  

17 The Local Authority, through the Progression and Learning Service 
(Children and Young People’s Services), collects and reports the 
destinations of all young people aged 16-17 to the Department for 
Education on a monthly basis. This includes young people who are 
participating in Education, Employment or Training (EET); young people 
who are Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET); as well as 
young people whose destination is Not Known to the Local Authority.  

18 The following table shows the latest performance data for young people 
aged 16-17, compared to the same period in 2018 and 2017 
respectively.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



 

2019 (December) 2018 (December) 2017 (December) 

All 16-
17 

LAC/CL 
All 16-

17 
LAC/CL 

All 16-
17 

LAC/CL 

Total Cohort1  10,250 133 9,803 116 10,364 138 

Participating in 
EET1 90.8% 

68.4% 
(91) 

90.7% 
73.3% 
(85) 

90.5% 
73.9% 
(102) 

Re-engagement1 1.5% 
11.3% 
(15) 

0.2%  
0.9% 
(1) 

0.2%  
0.7%  
(1) 

Employment 
without 
Training/Part 
Time Study1 

2.2% 2.3% (3) 2.1% 
3.4% 
(4) 

2.3% 
1.4%  
(2) 

Total EET1 94.5% 
82.0% 
(109) 

93.0% 
77.6% 
(90) 

93.1% 
76.1% 
(105) 

NEET1 4.0% 
17.3% 
(23) 

4.7% 
20.7% 
(24) 

5.1% 
18.8% 
(26) 

Not Known1 1.4% 
0.8% 
(1) 

2.3% 
1.7% 
(2) 

1.8% 
5.1% 
(7) 

Combined NEET 
and Not Known1 5.5% 

18.0% 
(24) 

7.0% 
22.4% 
(26) 

6.9% 
23.9% 
(33) 

1Local Authority Client Caseload Information System. 

19 The number and proportion of 16-17 year old Care Leavers who are 
NEET or whose destination is Not Known has decreased compared to 
the same period in 2018 and 2017 respectively. This is due, in part, to 
an increase in the number and proportion of Care Leavers who are 
undertaking a re-engagement activity (see paragraph 9).  

20 The Looked After and Permanence Service (Children and Young 
People’s Services) also tracks and reports on the destinations of Care 
Leavers aged 17-18 and 19-21 to the Department for Education and 
comparative data is published on an annual basis. This data captures 
the destinations of Care Leavers at the time of their birthdays. 

21 The following table shows the latest performance data for 17-18 year 
old and 19-21 year old Care Leavers, compared to the previous two 
years.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



 
2018-2019  2017-2018 2016-2017 

CL 17-
18 

CL 19-
21 

CL 17-
18 

CL 19-
21 

CL 17-
18 

CL 19-
21 

Total 
Cohort1 79 156 62 160 60 175 

Participating 
in EET1 

61% 
(48) 

51% 
(80) 

82% 
(51) 

59% 
(95) 

84% 
(50) 

62% 
(110) 

NEET1 C2 38% 
(60) 

C2 32% 
(51) 

C2 29% 
(51) 

1Department for Education: Children Looked After in England (including Adoption), year 
 ending 31st March. 
2 C denotes that figure has not been published in order to protect confidentiality. 

22 The proportion of 19-21 year old Care Leavers who were Participating 
in Education, Employment or Training, according to the latest 
performance data (51%), was greater than the regional average (50%) 
but lower than the national average (52%). The proportion of 19-21 year 
old Care Leavers who were NEET (38%) was lower than both the 
regional (45%) and national (39%) averages. 

23 The proportion of 17-18 year old Care Leavers who were Participating 
in Education, Employment or Training, according to the latest 
performance data (61%) was lower than both the regional (63%) and 
national (64%) averages.    

Future Priorities to Support Care Leavers 

24 In order to support more Care Leavers to make a successful transition 
into post-16 Education, Employment and Training, the following 
priorities have been identified:   

• Provide pre-Apprenticeship training and support for Care 
Leavers, to enable them to maximise their opportunity of being 
successful in applying for Durham County Council 
Apprenticeships.   

• Establish closer links with the North East Raising Aspirations 
Partnership, in order to encourage more Care Leavers and Foster 
Carers to take up opportunities to learn more about Higher 
Education. 

• Prepare for the introduction of the DurhamDirections Programme 
and DurhamEnable Programme to ensure that there is continued 
support for Care Leavers into Education, Employment and 
Training, including specialist support for Care Leavers who have 
specific learning, physical and mental health barriers to 
employment. 

Page 16



Conclusion 

25 This report has highlighted the actions undertaken to support more Care 
Leavers into Education, Employment or Training, including measures to 
support Care Leavers into Durham County Council Apprenticeships. 
However, it is recognised that further work is required and, to this end, 
the report has also highlighted a number of future priorities that aim to 
build upon the progress that has already been made.   

Recommendation  

26 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are requested to: 

(a) Note the information contained in this report and the presentation 
that will be given at the meeting. 

(b) Request any additional information required in relation to 
Education, Employment and Training opportunities for Care 
Leavers. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• None 

 

 

Author(s) 

Linda Bailey  Tel: 01325 375940 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None. 

Finance 

None. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Procurement 

None. 

 

Page 18



Supporting Care Leavers into 

Education, Employment and 

Training

Corporate Parenting Panel

Linda Bailey, Strategic Lead 

Progression and Learning

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8b



Transition Support

• Individual careers guidance from a Specialist 

Progression Adviser.

• Opportunities to undertake work experience 

through Teenagers to Work Programme.

• Opportunities to learn about Higher Education 

through Choices Together Programme.

• Support from DurhamWorks upon leaving 

school.

P
age 20



DurhamWorks Programme

• EU funded, DCC led partnership project supporting young 

people aged 16-24 who are unemployed.

• Programme aims to support over 10,000 young people by July 

2021.

• Care Leavers benefitting from:

➢ Wrap-a-round support from Specialist Progression Advisors.

➢ Activities to prepare for EET delivered by a range of Delivery Partners and 

Subcontractors.

➢ Employment based opportunities (SME employers can access to a 

DurhamWorks Grant).  

• 562 young people supported by DurhamWorks have identified 

themselves as Looked After / Care Leaver. Of these, 193 have 

completed, with 142 progressing into EET – a rate of 73.6%. 

P
age 21



New European Funded Programmes

• New European funded programmes due to commence in 2020 -

subject to approval, which will prioritise Care Leavers. 

• DurhamDirections

➢ £10m programme to support over 6,000 young people aged 15 – 24 who 

are at risk of becoming NEET / are NEET.

➢ Delivery between August 2020 and December 2023.  

➢ Will ensure that Care Leavers receive wrap-a-round support from a 

Specialist Progression Advisor to ensure they make a sustained transition 

into Education, Employment and Training.

• DurhamEnable (Supported Employment Service) 

➢ £3.6m programme that will support over 900 individuals who are aged 18 

and above and have learning, physical and mental health barriers to 

employment.

➢ Delivery between July 2020 and December 2023. 

➢ Care Leavers who meet the eligibility criteria for the Service will receive 

support from a DurhamEnable Key Worker. 

P
age 22



Durham County Council Pathway for 

Young People

Teenagers 2 
Work

Work Experience

Traineeship

Apprenticeship

Permanent 

Employment

P
age 23



Measures to support Care Leavers into 

Durham County Council Apprenticeships

• Guaranteed interview for all Care Leavers 

who meet essential criteria for the role.

• Programmes to prepare for application 

process / interview via DurhamWorks 

Delivery Partner.

• Ring-fencing of Apprenticeship posts 

specifically for Care Leavers.

• Five Care Leavers offered Apprenticeships 

during Durham County Council’s 2019 

Apprenticeship recruitment programme.  

P
age 24



Performance Data

¹Local Authority Client Caseload Information System

2019 (December) 2018 (December) 2017 (December)

All 16-17 LAC/CL All 16-17 LAC/CL All 16-17 LAC/CL

Total Cohort1 10,250 133 9,803 116 10,364 138

Participating in 

EET1
90.8%

68.4%

(91)
90.7%

73.3%

(85)
90.5%

73.9%

(102)

Re-engagement1 1.5%
11.3% 

(15)
0.2% 0.9% (1) 0.2% 

0.7% 

(1)

Employment 

without 

Training/Part Time 

Study1

2.2%
2.3% 

(3)
2.1%

3.4% 

(4)
2.3%

1.4% 

(2)

Total EET1 94.5%
82.0% 

(109)
93.0%

77.6%

(90)
93.1%

76.1% 

(105)

NEET1 4.0%
17.3%

(23)
4.7%

20.7%

(24)
5.1%

18.8%

(26)

Not Known1 1.4%
0.8%

(1)
2.3%

1.7%

(2)
1.8%

5.1%

(7)

Combined NEET 

and Not Known1
5.5%

18.0% 

(24)
7.0%

22.4% 

(26)
6.9%

23.9%

(33)

P
age 25



Case Study 
• E achieved good GCSE grades and progressed to a local FE 

College. However, due to her unstable home life, she 

subsequently left after only a few months.

• Although E was being supported by her DurhamWorks 

Personal Adviser, she did not always attend appointments.  

• When she turned 18, E began to engage more and was 

successful in obtaining a job in a local cake shop. She won a 

County Durham EPIC (Exceptional People in Care) Award, in 

recognition of the progress she had made.

• E began to look for other jobs and, with support from her 

DurhamWorks Personal Adviser, she successfully applied for 

an Apprenticeship with Durham County Council’s Young 

People’s Service.

• She started her Apprenticeship in September 2019 and is 

making good progress.    

P
age 26



Case Study
• M is a young person with SEND who did not enjoy his previous 

experience of Education. 

• He was interested in Catering and started a Level 1 course at an FE 

College. However, his placement broke down as a result of 

attendance and behavioural issues.

• M decided to try a course at a different FE College and his 

DurhamWorks Personal Adviser liaised closely with support staff to 

monitor his attendance and behaviour.

• M, once again, found mainstream learning too challenging and his 

placement broke down.

• M was supported by his DurhamWorks Personal Adviser to address 

issues relating to his anxiety, low self-esteem, as well as maintaining 

positive relationships.

• He has subsequently started an Entry Level Study Programme with 

a learning provider.

• M is more comfortable in his current smaller learning environment.  

P
age 27



Case Study
• I was successful in obtaining an Apprenticeship with a local café after 

he left school. However, the café was in a location that was not 

served well by public transport and he arrived late for work on several 

occasions. 

• His DurhamWorks Personal Adviser supported him with an 

application to ‘Wheels to Work’. However, due to on-going 

attendance issues, he lost his job before ‘Wheels into Work’ could be 

put in place.

• I successfully applied for an Apprenticeship with Durham County 

Council’s Catering Service. Unfortunately, the position offered was in 

a venue other than County Hall (as originally stated) and, due to the 

distance from where he lives, he decided to turn it down. 

• I has subsequently started a Level 1 Catering Course at a local FE 

College and is doing well. As he made such a good impression at 

interview, Durham County Council have offered him some work 

experience – subject to location.

P
age 28



Feedback from Care Leavers

• Do you feel you are contacted enough by 

DurhamWorks?

P
age 29



Feedback from Care Leavers

• If you were in charge, what would you 

change?

P
age 30



Feedback from Care Leavers

• What would put you off attending a course?

P
age 31



Feedback from Care Leavers

• How would you rate your experience of 

DurhamWorks?

P
age 32



Feedback from Care Leavers

I am now engaged in a 

college course thanks to the 

support and guidance of my 

DurhamWorks 

Adviser 

Every time I’ve had a problem or 

needed help with updating my CV 

or help with applying for jobs and 

Apprenticeships, my Durham Works 

Adviser was there straight away to 

help. 

Good relationship with my 

DurhamWorks Adviser. It meets all my expectations 

and more.

My DurhamWorks Adviser 

works with me all the time 

and helps me out with 

stuff I need help with.

A good service.

I like the support.

You’ve helped me 

out a lot.

P
age 33



Future Priorities

• Prepare for introduction of new DurhamDirections and 

DurhamEnable ESF Programmes – subject to approval.

• Support more Care Leavers into opportunities with Durham 

County Council. 

• Establish closer links with the North East Raising 

Aspirations Partnership, in order to encourage more Care 

Leavers and Foster Carers to take up opportunities to 

learn more about Higher Education.

P
age 34



 

 

 

        

Corporate Parenting Panel 

31 January 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Review, 

Children’s Residential Care Homes 

  

Cllr Heather Smith, Chair of Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

 Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide to Corporate Parenting Panel 
information relating to review activity on Children’s Residential Care 
Homes by Members from the Children and Young People’s and Safer 
and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

2 A copy of the scrutiny review report is appended to this report at 
appendix two.  

Executive Summary  

3 This report provides the key findings and recommendations following an 
overview and scrutiny review of Children’s Residential Care homes.   

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to: 

a) Note the content of the report  

b) Note recommendation four contained in the Overview and Scrutiny 
review report specifically relates to the Corporate Parenting Panel to 
action: 

i. Recommendation Four - That the Council’s Corporate 
Parenting Panel receive regular information relating to 
reported incidents to Durham Constabulary, for County 
Durham children looked after who reside within any residential 
children’s care home within County Durham with a specific 
focus on reports of missing from home.  

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



 

  

Background 

5 A joint review group was established from the membership of Children 
and Young People’s and Safer and Stronger Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees to consider Children’s Residential Care 
Homes. The aim of the review was to gain an understanding of 
concerns associated with the impact of private children’s residential 
care homes on demand of services and explore approaches to lobby 
government/ national bodies for tighter legislation. 

6 These concerns are focussed on demands on services particularly with 
the Council’s Children and Young People’s Services (e.g. children’s 
social work and education) and Police with reports of children reported 
missing, risks of vulnerability linked to CSE, criminal child exploitation 
and anti-social behaviour. All of which can have an adverse impact on 
local communities. Evidence suggests that placing children outside of 
their home local authority away from family, friends and social workers 
leaves them feeling isolated and more vulnerable to being groomed or 
exploited by criminals. 

7 At the time of the review, within County Durham there were 22 private 
children’s residential care homes providing approximately 90 beds to 
which over 77% have either a good or outstanding Ofsted rating. There 
are also 10 local authority children’s residential care homes in county 
Durham. This includes a secure unit providing a national resource and a 
respite centre. The remaining eight homes provide 32 beds for children 
looked after from County Durham.  

8 Members were also advised by officers from Children and Young 
People’s Services and Durham Constabulary of existing approaches 
through partnership working to engage with children’s residential care 
homes and the development of an accreditation process.  

9 In addition, the emerging County Durham Plan provides for a policy 
regarding any new development of children’s homes.  

10 The review has gathered evidence through desktop research, meetings 
with officers from the Council’s Children’s services, virtual school and 
commissioning teams, Durham Constabulary and the ERASE team. 
Furthermore, the Chair of the Review Group also met with young people 
from a residential care home, attended a network meeting of children’s 
residential care managers and held a focus group session on 
community concerns with councillors. 

 

 

Page 36



 

  

Key Findings  

11 Many children placed in residential care have no say where they are 
placed or located, and some children find themselves far from the 
familiar surroundings and locations.  Sir Martin Narey’s report titled 
‘Residential Care in England’ considered that the wellbeing of the child 
was more important than the location of the children’s home, but that 
children placed out of area should have as much face to face contact 
time with crucial support workers and are given the necessary 
resources to communicate and visit their family and friends. 

12 Evidence suggests that placing children outside of their home local 
authority away from family, friends and social workers can leave them 
feeling isolated and vulnerable although it is recognised that for some 
children this can be in their best interests. Within this context, a data 
snapshot in December 2018, reported 80% of placements within private 
residential care homes in County Durham were from north east local 
authority areas.  

13 Government guidance on children who run away or go missing from 
home states that a responsible authority must make sure the child has 
access to the services they need and should notify the host local 
authority and other specified services. Within the review’s evidence 
gathering, views were expressed by officers and children’s residential 
care homes managers that notification was inconsistent for out of area 
placements of children being placed within County Durham. 

14 The Children’s Society research suggests that statutory guidance 
should be revised to include guidance on information sharing from 
return home interviews and that local authorities must act on 
recommendations made about the welfare of the young person. 

15 Evidence from Durham Police highlighted that in the case of children 
who frequently run away some return home interviews were not taking 
place and some young people were not seeing their social worker when 
living away from their placing authority area. 

16 Children’s residential Care homes are exempt from paying council tax 
or business rates because all residents are under 18 years old.  Staff 
are not resident in the homes and therefore a class S exemption is in 
place as they are banded as residential premises. 

17 In 2018 Durham Police indicate there was a 34% reduction across the 
force area (County Durham and Darlington local authority areas) in the 
number of young people going missing compared to 2017.  This 
resulted in 280 fewer safeguarding concerns.  During the same time 

Page 37



 

  

period there was also a 26% reduction in the number of calls received 
to the police. 

18 There is a greater demand from private children’s homes on the Local 
Authority Dedicated Officer (LADO) than the Council’s children’s homes 
and evidence suggests that the LADO has been used as a point of 
contact for advice and support. 

19 As a result of rising demands and pressures particularly on Durham 
Police and the Council’s Children’s Social Care in 2014, a network 
arrangement was established between lead officers and residential 
Children’s Care Home managers. 

20 The network meetings are led by the ERASE team and are held on a 
quarterly basis and are an important communication forum between 
partner agencies and children’s residential care home providers. 

21 Outcomes from the network meetings have included the introduction of 
problem-solving meetings with homes managers to address 
underperformance and reduce demand.  There has been improved 
information sharing with local authorities, Ofsted, children’s homes and 
local neighbourhood police teams. 

22 Throughout the review period an accreditation process has been 
developed by the Council to ensure that appropriate operational 
systems and requirements are in place at independent residential 
homes. The accreditation process is currently being trialled at three 
private children’s residential care homes where children looked after 
from County Durham are residing.  

Service Response 

23 Children and Young People’s Services have provided the following 
response to the recommendations within the review report. 

24 In relation to recommendation one the Service have responded that the 
accuracy and timeliness of information from placing Local Authorities 
about children and young people placed in County Durham is kept 
under review and where it becomes apparent that a young person is 
living in County Durham and the appropriate notification has not been 
made, representation will be made to the DCS within that area.  

25 Recommendation two refers to the Local Authority Designated Officer to 
which an externally commissioned review of the LADO role and 
associated capacity issues has been completed. A series of 
recommendations have been made and a multi-agency task and finish 
group is now implementing these recommendations. The outcome of 
this work will be shared with the DSCP in March 2020.  In addition, all 

Page 38



 

  

private children’s homes providers are expected to be familiar with the 
DSCP arrangements and their safeguarding responsibilities. All 
available DSCP multi-agency training is shared on the DSCP website. 

26 The multi-agency partnership group chaired by police colleagues called 
Criminal Exploitation Group (CEG) receives data and information 
relating to all children missing from home and care within County 
Durham routinely. This information is shared with the DSCP via the 
performance sub group. Where there are specific concerns relating to 
any specific home or an increase in demand on police time, tailored and 
bespoke work is done with homes managers to address the issues and 
ensure children are safe. 

27 There is an agreed annual work programme for the Corporate Parenting 
Panel and data relating to children missing from home care is now 
shared via a regular quarterly performance report into the panel. More 
detailed presentations from the integrated Erase team will be shared at 
panel on an annual basis. 

28 The Corporate Director of Children’s Services will review the evaluation 
of the accreditation of children’s homes pilot and present the findings to 
the Corporate Parenting Panel in March 2020.  Following the 
conclusions of the pilot and review of the findings, the Corporate 
Director of Children’s Services will consider sharing these with the 
Association of Directors of Children’s Services. 

Conclusion  

29 This report provides an overview of activity undertaken, key findings 
and recommendations within the review group report contained in 
appendix 2.  

Background papers 

• None 

 

Author(s)    

Ann Whitton   Tel: 03000 268143 

Jonathan Slee  Tel: 03000 268142 

Page 39



 

  

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
Section 22(3) of the Children Act 1989 places a duty on local authorities to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of looked after children. This includes a 
particular duty to promote the child’s educational achievement and in acting as 
good corporate parents to enable each looked after child to achieve their full 
potential. Under this section, local authorities should ensure that in 
commissioning services from providers of children’s homes they comply with 
their responsibilities under the Children Act. 
Volume 5 of the governments guidance documents for local authorities 

contains Statutory Guidance on Children’s Homes. The guidance takes into 

account the requirements under the Care Standards Act 2000, in particular the 

Children’s Homes Regulations 2001 (as amended) and  should be read in 

conjunction with the National Minimum Standards (NMS) 2011  

 
Finance 
None  

 
Consultation 
None  

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Information within the report focuses on protecting vulnerable children and an 

Equality Impact assessment on recommendations is to be undertaken.  

 
Climate Change  
None 

 
Human Rights 
None  

 
Crime and Disorder 
The report’s content includes information on reported incidents from Children’s 

Residential Care Homes to Durham Constabulary and recommends 

approaches to monitor demand.  

 
Staffing 
The increasing numbers of Private Children’s Homes within Durham places 

additional demands on Durham Children’s Social Care and Durham Police. 

The service provided by the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) is 

increasingly used by the Private Children’s Homes.  

 

Page 40



 

  

Accommodation 
None  

 
Risk 
None.  

 

Procurement  

None.  

 

 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

Appendix 2: Children and Young People’s and Safer Stronger 

Communities Joint Overview and Scrutiny Review Report 

 

 
 

 
 

 
Joint Children & Young People’s 
and Safer Stronger Communities 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

Review Group Report  
 

Children’s Residential Care Homes 
in County Durham 

 
 
 

November 2019 
  

Page 42



 

 
 

Contents  
 

Title Page 

Chair’s Foreword 4 

Executive Summary 5 

Recommendations  7 

Strategic Context  

• Background 

• National Context  

• National reports and inquiries  

• Local Context  

• Planning  

• Council Tax  

• Local Communities  

8 

8 

10 

10 

12 

13 

14 

14 

 

Demand and Engagement  

• Demand  

• Durham Constabulary  

• Local Authority Designated Officer 

• Education  

• Engagement & Partnership Working with Children’s Homes 

within County Durham 

• Accreditation 

Recommendations 

15 

15 

15 

16 

17 

17 

 

19 

20 

Appendix 1 – Terms of Reference  21 

Appendix 2 – Review Meetings Held 22 

Appendix 3 – Summary of Legislation  23 

Page 43



 

 
 

 

 

  

Email: scrutiny@durham.gov.uk 

Telephone 03000 268143 

Page 44



 

 
 

Chair’s Foreword 

 

The number of looked after children is rising 
across the UK and County Durham is no 
different. While approximately 90% of children 
looked after by local authorities live in foster 
care, about 10% require accommodation in 
children’s homes. Many of these children have 
complex needs and are highly vulnerable, so 
providing sufficient places for them in 
residential children’s homes is a real challenge, 
especially in times of austerity when local 
authorities’ budgets are stretched beyond their 
limits.  Local authorities now run approximately 20% of children’s residential 
homes, and the other 80% are run by a variety of private providers, including 
charities and private companies, some of whom are very large businesses 
with many homes across the country.  The Ofsted report on children’s homes 
from 2017-18 noted that the large providers are more likely to buy property in 
areas with the lowest property prices, and that this can result in a dearth of 
provision in some areas which will drive out-of-area placements for children, 
and also result in homes being opened in more disadvantaged areas. 
 
County Durham has more private children’s homes than any other area in the 
North East and Humberside.  Members were aware that some of these homes 
were having an impact on local services and this was the principal reason for 
undertaking this review.  We hoped to gain more information about the 
numbers and locations of private children’s homes, the effect they were 
having on demand for local services, and what it is like for a child living in one 
of them.  We were very interested to learn about the ways in which 
communication and partnership working were being facilitated between these 
homes, DCC, Durham police and other agencies, and some of the positive 
initiatives introduced in our county.  
 
I am grateful to everyone who contributed to this review – the members who 
gave examples of what was happening in their divisions, the children from one 
of the residential homes, the managers of the private children’s homes, 
Durham police and the ERASE team, staff from DCC Children’s Services, 
Virtual School and Commissioning teams, and the scrutiny officers for the 
large amount of work in researching the background and legislation, and 
facilitation of meetings.  This report would not have been possible without 
them. 
 
Councillor Heather Smith   
Chair  
  

Page 45



 

 
 

Executive Summary  

1. A joint review group was established from the membership of Children and 
Young People’s and Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees to consider Children’s Residential Care Homes, to 
gain an understanding of concerns associated with the impact of private 
children’s residential care homes on demand of services and explore 
approaches to lobby government/ national bodies for tighter legislation. 

 

2. Within this context the objectives of the review were: 
 

a) To gain an understanding of the impact of out of area placements in 
private children’s residential care homes within the county and 
associated demands on Council and partner agencies. 
  

b) To consider and comment on current legislation and regulation to 
identify any gaps and explore approaches to lobby for tighter 
regulation and accreditation. 
  

c) To consider existing practices and identify gaps to how 
communication and engagement can be improved between the 
parent authority, private children’s residential care homes and the 
Council. 
 

d) To hold focus group sessions to seek views on engagement, 
legislation, demand and community issues with contacts from private 
children’s residential care homes, Children in Care Council and 
Elected Members. 

 

3.  At the time of the review in County Durham there were 22 private 

children’s residential care homes providing approximately 90 beds to which 

over 70% were graded as Outstanding or good for ‘Overall experience’ by 

Ofsted. There are also 10 local authority children’s residential care homes 

in county Durham. It is to note that this includes one secure unit providing a 

national resource and one respite centre to which the remaining eight 

homes provide 32 beds for children looked after from County Durham.  

 
4. The emerging County Durham Plan provides for a policy regarding any 

new development of children’s homes.  
 

5. Many children placed in residential care have no say where they are 
placed or located, and some children find themselves far from the familiar 
surroundings and locations.  Sir Martin Narey’s review of residential care 
considered that the wellbeing of the child was more important than the 
location of the children’s home, but that children placed out of area should 

Page 46



 

 
 

have as much face to face contact time with crucial support workers and 
are given the necessary resources to communicate and visit their family 
and friends. 

 
6. Evidence suggests that often placing children outside of their home local 

authority away from family, friends and social workers can leave them 
feeling isolated and vulnerable although it is recognised that for some 
children this can be in their best interests.  

 
7. Government guidance states that the Council who is placing the child must 

make sure the child has access to the services they need and should notify 
the host local authority and other specified services. Within the review’s 
evidence gathering, views were expressed by officers and children’s 
residential care homes managers that notification was inconsistent for out 
of area placements of children being placed within County Durham. 

 

8. County Durham’s Children looked after have access to the Children in 
Care Council (CICC) but children in out of area placements in County 
Durham do not have the same access.  The review group felt that it is 
important for children in out of area placements living in private residential 
care homes in County Durham to engage with the local community where 
they live and would encourage that this is factored into placements to 
enable children in out of area placements to have a voice within their 
community. 

 

9. The role of the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) is a statutory 
requirement to manage allegations and concerns about any person who 
works with children and young people in their area.  The review group 
found there is an increased demand placed on the LADO from private 
residential care homes who tend to use the service as a point of contact for 
advice and information and felt that this demand should be monitored. 

 

10. The review group heard from Durham Police that between 1 January and 
30 September 2018 there were 386 missing from home reports for the 
County Durham local authority area.  In view of this evidence the review 
group felt that the demand placed upon Durham Police from all children’s 
residential care homes should be monitored. 

 

11. County Durham has seen a significant rise in the number of children looked 
after which has put pressure on residential places and made it difficult to 
get the right ‘mix’ of young people in DCC’s children’s homes.  The 
challenging behaviours of some of the young people and the rise in 
numbers of children looked after has led to an increase in demand to police 
and council services.  The review group felt that this demand especially 
missing from home incidents should be analysed by the Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 

Page 47



 

 
 

12. The review group was impressed by the work of the Erase Team in 
establishing network meetings with managers of children’s homes that 
positively engage and develop relationships with each other.  One result of 
this work has been the development of an annual conference with the 
members that has attracted interest from other police forces in England 
and Wales. 

 

13. During the review the group learned that an accreditation process was 
being developed by DCC and was being trialled at three private children’s 
homes where children from the county were residing.  The review group 
felt that following the trail and evaluation this accreditation scheme should 
be developed and promoted to include all children’s residential care homes 
in County Durham. 

 

14. Throughout the review the group felt there should be a national approach 
to accreditation of children’s residential care homes and suggested that 
local Members of Parliament and national bodies should be lobbied to this 
effect to take this call forward to ensure the welling of children looked after.  

 

Recommendations  

 
Recommendation One -. That consideration be given for the Durham 
Safeguarding Children Partnership via the Corporate Director of 
Children and Young People’s Services and the ERASE team to receive 
a further report on timeliness and accuracy of information received from 
placing authorities to the Council and partner agencies in line with 
regulation 5 ‘to engage with the wider system to ensure the children’s 
needs are met’ for out of area children looked after residing within a 
children’s residential care home within the county.  
 

Recommendation Two - That the Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services and the Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership monitor the demand placed upon the LADO and ensure that 
all private children’s Residential care homes receive information about 
courses provided by DSCB relating to residential care. 
 
Recommendation Three - That the Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership receive regular information to monitor the number of 
incidents reported to Durham Constabulary from all Residential 
Children’s Care Homes within the county and action taken to reduce 
demand. 
 

Recommendation Four - That the Council’s Corporate Parenting Panel 
receive regular information relating to reported incidents to Durham 
Constabulary, for County Durham children looked after who reside 

Page 48



 

 
 

within any residential children’s care home within County Durham with a 
specific focus on reports of missing from home.  
 

Recommendation Five - That following an evaluation of the trial of the 
accreditation scheme, the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services takes proposals for a revised scheme to Corporate 
Parenting Panel.  As part of the implementation of a revised scheme it 
should be promoted with all children’s residential care homes within 
County Durham.  
 

Recommendation Six - That the Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership give consideration to lobbying regionally and nationally for 
agreement to explore an accreditation scheme for residential children’s 
care homes nationally. 
 

Strategic Context 

 
Key Findings  

 

Background  

 
15. The number of children looked after in the United Kingdom has risen in 

recent years.  At the end of March 2018 there were 75,420 children looked 
after in the UK, a 4% rise on 2017.  In County Durham at the end of March 
2018 there were 798 children looked after which was a decrease on the 31 

• There are 22 private children’s homes and 10 LA children’s 

homes in County Durham 

• County Durham has the most private children’s homes in the 

North East and Humberside Ofsted region 

• 80% of placements within private residential care homes in 

County Durham were from north east local authority areas.  

• 77% of private residential children’s care homes in County 

Durham have a good or outstanding by Ofsted 

• Children’s Homes are exempt from Council Tax 

• The emerging County Durham Plan includes a policy on the 

development of new children’s homes. 

• Government data indicates a 77% increase in the number of 

children sent to live in children’s homes out of area from 2250 

in 2012 to 3990 in 2018. 

Page 49



 

 
 

March 2017 figure of 810.  However, performance information throughout 
2018 indicates that children looked after figures have again risen to 839 at 
the period ending 31 December 2018. 

 
16. The majority of children in care live with foster carers and one in ten 

children in care live in residential children’s homes.  These children often 
have complex needs that require specialist care and support, and a 
residential care home is a better option for them.  

 
17. There are 3 types of homes which care for children: 

 
• children’s homes – these are most of the homes in England and 

are defined as any home that is not a residential special school 
registered as a children’s home and is not a secure children’s 
home 

• residential special school registered as a children’s home  
• secure children’s homes 

 
18. Evidence gathered within the Committee’s report focuses on the type 

categorised as ‘Children’s Homes’.  
 

19. The Office for National Statistics (ONS) data states that as at 31 March 
2018, nationally there were 2209 children’s homes in England an increase 
of 3% on the previous year.  In comparison and at the same time local 
authorities have reduced the number of children’s homes they run by 3% to 
423 homes. This data is illustrated within the following graph. 

 
 

 

20. Children’s Homes are governed by stringent legislation and are inspected 
by Ofsted twice a year.  Appendix 3 provides a summary of the legislation, 
guidance and policies that relate to operating a children’s home. 

Page 50



 

 
 

National Context  
 

National Reports and Inquiries  
21. In 2012, an All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) for Runaway and 

Missing Children and Adults, and for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers published a report following a joint inquiry into children who go 
missing from care.  A key recommendation in that report was for “Urgent 
action on ‘out of area placements’ to reduce the number of children living 
outside their own local authority, despite evidence which shows that this is 
often a major factor in causing them to run away and putting them at risk”.1  

 
22. In 2014, the House of Commons Education Committee produced a report 

into Children’s Residential Care that suggested that Government should 
commission a study assessing the impact of introducing a new rule to 
prevent local authorities from placing a child more than 20 miles from 
home.  The government did not conduct a study and suggested that “the 
solution we and the sector continue to work towards is ensuring sufficient 
local provision to accommodate the needs of the children in care”.2  

 
23. Ann Coffey MP in 2016 raised concerns around the issue of out of area 

placements during Education questions and was advised that the 
government had commissioned an independent review from Sir Martin 
Narey to look at all care options for children.  The remit of the review 
included the full spectrum of placement options. 

 
24. Sir Martin Narey’s review considered that the wellbeing of the child was 

more important than the location of the children’s home but that children 
placed out of area should have as much face to face contact time with 
crucial support workers and be given the necessary resources to 
communicate and make frequent visits to their family and friends.  However 
legislation3 clearly states there will be circumstances where a distant 
placement is better where a child has complex treatment needs or so that a 
child can be effectively safeguarded. 

 
25. In March 2019 the APPG for Runaway and Missing Children and Adults 

launched an inquiry into the record numbers of children who go missing 
from out of area placements.  In launching their inquiry, they highlighted 
that one thousand more individual children in out of area placements have 
gone missing from children’s homes since 2015. The figures state that 990 
children in out of area placements were reported as missing in 2015 and 
this has grown to 1990 in 2018 and compares to a 31% increase for 

 
1 APPG for Runaway and Missing Children and Adults and APPG for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers, Report from Joint Inquiry into children who go missing from care , 6/12 
2 Education Committee, Residential Children’s Homes, 2013-2014 HC 716, 12/3/14 
3 The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations Volume 2: care planning, placement and case 
review; June 2015 

Page 51



 

 
 

children who go missing from children’s homes within their home local 
authority area. In addition, their launch also reported that Government data 
indicates that there has been a 77% increase in the number of children 
sent to live in children’s homes out of area from 2250 in 2012 to 3990 in 
2018.” 

 
26. In 2014 the government produced statutory guidance on children who go 

missing from home or care.  The guidance states that local authorities have 
a duty to place a looked after child in the most appropriate placement 
available, subject to their duty to safeguard and promote the welfare of the 
child.  Any decision to place a child at a distance should be based on an 
assessment of the child’s needs including their need to be effectively 
safeguarded.  Evidence suggests that distance from home is a key factor 
for children looked after running away.4  

 
27. The guidance explains that when a child is placed out of their local 

authority area, the responsible authority must make sure that the child has 
access to the services they need.  Notification of the placement must be 
made to the host authority and other specified services.  In addition, the 
Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Guidance, July 2014 
Regulation 11(2)(d)(ii)), as amended, requires the responsible authority to 
consult with the area authority when they are considering making a distant 
placement, in good time to enable a thorough assessment of 
appropriateness.  However, in case of emergency placements regulations 
9(1)(b)(ii) 11(2)(c) and (d) state the responsible local authority is required 
to notify the host local authority within five working days. 

 

28. Regulation 5 of the ‘Guide to the Children’s Homes Regulations including 
the quality standards’ sets out the requirement that children's homes must 
seek to work with those in the wider system to ensure that each child's 
needs are met.  Within the review’s evidence gathering, views were 
expressed by officers and children’s residential care homes managers that 
notification was not always timely, accurate and detailed for out of area 
placements of children being placed within County Durham. In addition, 
members were also informed that not all placing Authorities or children’s 
care homes would inform the Council and partner agencies when a young 
person has left County Durham and this was an issue that had been raised 
with private homes.  

 

29. It is felt that notification and appropriate information should be shared at 
the earliest opportunity to assist the child to obtain services within the 
county but to also identify any preventative or supporting measures that 
can be to put into place to reduce the vulnerability including the risk of 
going missing from home, child sexual exploitation or links to countylines.  

 
4 Statutory guidance on children who run away or go missing from home or care, DfE, 1/14 

Page 52



 

 
 

 
30. Evidence suggests that placing children outside of their home local 

authority away from family, friends and social workers leaves them feeling 
isolated and vulnerable to being groomed or exploited by criminals. 5 

 
31. Children’s Society research looking at five things that could make a 

difference to missing children and young people highlights the need for 
better communication and suggests that local authorities must work 
together with the police to ensure that children looked after who are placed 
out of the area do not slip through the net. It also highlights that statutory 
guidance should be revised to include guidance on information sharing 
from return home interviews and that local authorities must act on 
recommendations made about the welfare of a young person following a 
return home interview. 

 
32. It was highlighted by Durham Police that in cases of frequent runaways 

some return home interviews were not taking place and some young 
people were not seeing their social worker when out of their placing 
authority. 

 

33. Research undertaken by the Howard League for Penal Reform reported a 
lack of government oversight of the children’s residential care homes 
‘market’, coupled with a lack of financial transparency and indicated they 
intend to look in more detail at the issues associated with the residential 
care market.  Furthermore, the National Audit Office in their report 
Pressures on Children’s Social Care indicates that local authorities in 
different areas are paying widely different prices for the same standard of 
residential care.6   These views were expressed by Members of the 
working group raised concerns about the profits being made by private 
children’s homes.   

 

Local Context  
34. Durham County Council operate 10 Children’s homes, one of these is 

secure accommodation which is a national resource, another residential 
care home is for children and young people with disabilities offering respite 
care and the remaining eight children’s homes are for children looked after 
to be placed when residential care is the best provision for them.  Within 
the eight children’s homes there are 32 beds providing medium to long 
term placements for young people aged 12 to 18 years with emotional and 
behavioural issues.  The demand for residential care beds is high due to 
the high numbers of children looked after both nationally and in County 
Durham. 

 
5 https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/news-and-blogs/press-releases/parliamentary-inquiry-into-
the-scandal-of-%E2%80%98sent-away%E2%80%99-children as accessed 8/5/19 
6 Pressures on Children’s Social Care, National Audit Office, January 2019 

Page 53

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/news-and-blogs/press-releases/parliamentary-inquiry-into-the-scandal-of-%E2%80%98sent-away%E2%80%99-children
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/news-and-blogs/press-releases/parliamentary-inquiry-into-the-scandal-of-%E2%80%98sent-away%E2%80%99-children


 

 
 

35. At the time of the review there were 22 private children’s residential care 
homes operating in County Durham with some in rural locations offering 
approximately 90 beds. A data snapshot in December 2018, reported 71 
placements (80%) were looked after children from north east authorities 
and 18 placements (20%) from outside the north east area. There were 
four looked after children living in private children’s residential homes at 
this timepoint. As previously mentioned, the number of Children Looked 
After (CLA) is high by historical standards and although growth may have 
slowed recently this has impacted on the stability of placements. 

Information provided also reported that 77% of private residential children’s 
care homes were graded as either good or outstanding by Ofsted. 

 

36. The following table illustrates that County Durham has the highest number 
of local authority and private residential Children’s Homes within the North 
East and Humberside Region of Ofsted.  Although we are the biggest area 
by population our numbers of homes are more than double the next 
nearest local authority area. 

 

Source: UK Government Statistical First Release Data 30/9/2018 
 

Planning  
37. Children’s Services and Durham Police have worked with Durham County 

Council’s Planning Department to include in the emerging County Durham 
Plan a policy relating to planning applications for new children’s care 
homes.  The new policy provides conditions for planning applications for 
new build premises and that in all instances a planning application must be 
supported by a management plan which incorporates a locality risk 
assessment for approval by the Local Planning Authority in consultation 
with Durham Constabulary, DCC Children’s Services and any other 
appropriate agency.  During the review, members raised concerns about 
the number of planning applications for change of use of existing 
residential properties into children’s homes.   

 
 

Page 54



 

 
 

 Council Tax 
38. Members of the working group raised concern about private children’s 

homes not paying Council Tax or Business Rates. This concern was 
explored with the Council’s Resources Service grouping who advised that 
children’s homes are not registered for business rates as they are banded 
as domestic premises.  The service also advised that children’s residential 
care homes are exempt from paying council tax because all the residents 
were under the age of 18 years.  The staff working in these facilities are not 
considered to be resident in the home and therefore the class ‘S’ (occupied 
by minors) exemption applied.  The same exemption is in operation for the 
local authority managed children’s homes. 

 
39. The Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Council Tax (Exempt 

Dwellings) Order 1992 provides the classes of dwelling that are exempt 
from liability to Council Tax.  Council tax is not payable in respect of an 
exempt dwelling as long as the requirements giving rise to the exemption 
exist.  Regulation 8 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992 provides that Billing Authorities must take reasonable 
steps each financial year to identify the dwellings in the area that are 
exempt (for whatever reason) in line with requirements of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and the Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) 
Order 1992 and the powers to seek information to determine eligibility for 
any exemptions and therefore determine the liability for council tax.  

 
Local Communities  

40. The Review Group held a focus group with local members to discuss 
children’s residential care homes and issues they had experienced in their 
communities.  A focus session was also held with the Chair and young 
people from local authority areas outside of County Durham to give their 
view of living in residential care in County Durham. 

 
41. Members highlighted examples within their communities where there had 

been incidents of anti-social behaviour that had caused an impact within 
the local area but advised of approaches to proactively engage with the 
children’s home and this resulted with increased engagement in community 
events. Whilst acknowledging local concerns, Members also commented 
on the potential impact a move from a large city to a rural location could 
have on young people in care and were concerned at the distance these 
young people were being placed from their family and friends. 

 

42. The young people advised there were four young people living in the 
residential care home with 14 staff members, during the day there were 
three staff on duty and two on duty through the night.  The young people 
had limited engagement with the local community but had tried to engage 
with them via charity fund raising events.  One of the young people 
attended the local school and had made friends there.  The residential care 

Page 55



 

 
 

home where the young people lived encouraged engagement with the 
Children in Care Council (CICC) and they had attended CICC events and 
activities. Within this context the review group viewed that it is important for 
children in out of area placements living in private children’s residential 
care homes to engage with the local community and would encourage this 
to be factored into placements and enable them to a have a voice within 
the community.  

 
Recommendations  

 

Recommendation One 
That consideration be given for the Durham Safeguarding Children’s 
Partnership via the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services and the ERASE team to receive a further report on timeliness 
and accuracy of information received from placing authorities to the 
Council and partner agencies in line with regulation 5 ‘to engage with 
the wider system to ensure the children’s needs are met’ for out of area 
children looked after residing within a children’s residential care home 
within the county.  
 

Demand and Engagement  
 

Key Findings  

 
Demand  
 
Durham Constabulary   

43. The working group received information that indicated that there had been 
a great demand upon Durham Police from children’s residential care 
homes that had led to the establishment of a children’s residential care 
home managers network.  Thanks to the engagement work that had taken 
place between the ERASE Team and the Children’s Homes Managers 
demand from children’s private residential care homes has significantly 
reduced. 

• There is significant demand put on the LADO from private 

children’s home 

• There has been a considerable amount of work done on 

engagement with children’s homes 

• Establishment of Children’s Home Managers Network 

meetings 

• Establishment of Children’s Home Managers Conference 

• Durham County Council is piloting an accreditation process 

for private children’s homes. 

Page 56



 

 
 

44. In 2018 Durham Police saw a 34% reduction across the force area (County 
Durham and Darlington) in the number of young people going missing 
compared with 2017, this resulted in 280 fewer safeguarding concerns.  
There was also a 26% reduction in the number of calls to the police during 
the same time period, resulting in 452 fewer calls. 

 
45. The cost associated with each type of incident varied depending upon the 

type of incident and the time of day for example those incidents relating to 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) reported late at night had higher costs and 
higher risks and were obviously a priority.  Between 1 January 2018 and 30 
September 2018 Durham Police had recorded 386 missing from home 
reports for the Durham local authority area.  Whilst demand for services 
has reduced Members felt that this should be monitored. 

 

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 
46. Durham County Council is statutorily required to have a designated officer 

to support staff across all organisations who work with children and young 
people. If any concerns arise regarding any practitioner who works with 
children and young people the LADO is to be informed. 

 
47. The LADO should be alerted to all cases in which it is alleged that a person 

who works with children has: 

• Behaved in a way which has harmed a child, or may have 
harmed a child; 

• Possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a 
child; 

• Behaved towards a child or children in a way which indicates that 
he/she may pose a risk of harm to children. 

 
48. Members of the working group were provided with information of the 

number of referrals to the LADO, during April 2017 to March 2018.  During 
this time 445 referrals were made, and of this figure seven were from DCC 
children’s homes and 48 were made from private children’s homes.  In a 
six-month period (April to October 2018) the LADO received one referral 
from a DCC children’s home and 90 referrals from private children’s 
homes. 

 
49. There is a clear indication that there is a greater demand on the LADO 

from private children’s homes.  The LADO is very proactive in relation to 
safeguarding, following up via proper protocols and liaising with Durham 
Police.  

  
50. Evidence indicates that the demand on the LADO comes from private 

children’s homes and it was suggested that in some cases that LADO is 
used as a point of call for advice and support. Members were concerned at 
the number of referrals and the demand placed on the LADO. This was 

Page 57



 

 
 

reiterated at the Children’s Home Network meeting where the LADO 
advised children’s home managers of LSCB procedures and available 
training courses. In addition, the Erase Team had also provided private 
children’s home’s staff with advice and guidance in relation to inappropriate 
reporting. 

 
Education 

51. The Head of the Virtual School advised that in relation to being advised of 
young people from out of the area attending schools in County Durham it 
was often the school itself that informed her rather than the placing local 
authority.  The County Council would become involved in hot spot areas 
such as where school places were of a premium and where possible 
special educational needs (SEN) support top up would be provided and the 
funding would come from DCC.  It was explained that not all local 
authorities offered this top up support so to try to ‘clawback’ funding from 
other local authorities would be difficult and if cases related to the Mental 
Health Act then the responsibility for funding would remain with DCC. 

 

Engagement & Partnership Working with Children’s Homes within 
County Durham  

52. As a result of rising demands and pressures particularly on Durham Police 
and the council’s Children’s Social Care in 2014, a network arrangement 
was established between lead officers and residential Children’s Care 
Homes Managers.  

 
53. The purpose of these meetings was originally to ensure that all homes 

complied with the then Durham Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
procedures in relation to young people going missing from care.  This was 
in light of the national enquiry into Child Sexual Exploitation and to ensure 
that all children and young people placed within Durham were 
safeguarded. Further objectives of this engagement were to improve 
information sharing, relationships and accountability and provide a 
mechanism to provide challenge but also support to empower staff within 
homes in decision making.  

 
54. These meetings are led by lead officers from the ERASE team, are held on 

a quarterly basis throughout the year and are an important communication 
forum between partner agencies and the private providers. There are a 
wide range of issues discussed that now form an integral part of joint work 
between Durham Police, the ERASE team and the Children’s Homes 
within the County and reports back to the LSCB Missing and Exploited 
Group.  

 
55. During the review period, Cllr Heather Smith, attended the February 2019 

Children’s Homes Network meeting and held a focus group discussion with 
residential children’s homes managers. This allowed an opportunity to 

Page 58



 

 
 

observe the engagement between the private children’s homes managers, 
police and partner agencies whilst issues such as service demand, 
monitoring incidents, missing from home reports and staff training were 
considered and discussed.  

 
56. Outcomes from this engagement have included the introduction of 

problem-solving meetings with homes managers to address 
underperformance and reduce demand, which has included search training 
to assist police when a young person is missing and empower staff to 
make decisions within the homes. The approach has also seen improved 
information sharing with local authorities, Ofsted, children’s homes and 
local neighbourhood police teams within the Force area.  

 
57. Safeguarding is at the centre of this activity and reviews of return to home 

interviews will help to gather knowledge to introduce preventative 
measures to reduce further incidents but also provide intelligence on 
known locations and associates.  September 2018 saw the launch of the 
Philomena protocol that encourages carers, staff, families and friends to 
compile useful information which could be used in the event of a young 
person going missing from care. Utilising this approach will save time and 
resources but most importantly it has the potential to save lives of 
vulnerable young people, by working with children’s homes to establish 
patterns of behaviour, places they frequently visit, keeping an up-to-date 
photograph and medication list on hand and if they do go missing 
completing a standardised form which will make the emergency services 
response to the enquiry more efficient. 

 
58. Furthermore, this approach has led to two annual conferences with over 

120 delegates from residential children’s homes in attendance and is seen 
as a best practice approach with a number of police forces visiting Durham 
with a view to adopting a similar approach within their areas. 

 
59. Durham Police indicated that when attending regional and national 

meetings in relation to safeguarding and children missing from care it was 
clear that Durham police and DCC were leading the way in relation to the 
work they do with private providers.  Members of the working group were 
reassured with the approach taken and acknowledged the achievement of 
the partnership approach taken. 

 

Accreditation Process 
60. At present, there are no accreditation processes for private children’s 

residential care homes within a Local Authority only through the regulatory 
process with Ofsted. Throughout the review period an accreditation 
process has been developed by the Council and is currently being trialled 
at three homes where children looked after from County Durham are 
residing. Whilst residential children’s care homes must have statutory 

Page 59



 

 
 

procedures in place eg Ofsted certificate and DCC planning approval, the 
aim of the accreditation process is to ensure that appropriate operational 
systems and requirements are in place at independent residential homes. 

The new proposed accreditation framework includes the following 
elements: 

• Professional assessment of setting 

• References from other Local authorities with placements at setting 

• Provide forwarding copies of Regulatory body registration certificate, 
most recent Ofsted/CQC inspection and regulation 44 reports, 
statement of purpose and placement costings to local authorities. 

• The provider will complete a mandatory check document covering 
financial, insurance, health and safety, equality and diversity and 
safeguarding information for assessment.     

• The provider will also complete a Quality monitoring self-assessment 
form for assessment. 
 

61. Once all documentation is received and deemed appropriate, the 
accreditation is signed off by the Council and a contract and individual 
placement agreement is issued. Following accreditation, there is a 
requirement for ongoing monthly monitoring of the settings through 
regulation 44 reports and annual contract compliance monitoring. 

  
62. At the point in which evidence was considered by Members, this process is 

in the early stages of development. In summary, it was felt that this was a 
positive initiative and that following an evaluation of the trial at the three 
homes, consideration be given to promoting this approach with all 
residential children’s homes within County Durham. In addition, as part of 
the evidence gathering for application, Members would encourage 
communication with the ERASE team as part of the accreditation process.  

 
63. The working group suggested that there should be a national framework for 

all children’s homes in England to enable a national register to be kept that 
would assist local authorities when placing children in residential care.  
This would be in addition to the Ofsted inspection framework. 
 

Recommendations  

 Recommendation Two 
 That the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services 

and the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership monitor the 
demand placed upon the LADO and ensure that all private children’s 
Residential care homes receive information about courses provided by 
DSCB relating to residential care. 

  
 
 

Page 60



 

 
 

 Recommendation Three 
 That the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership receive regular 

information to monitor the number of incidents reported to Durham 
Constabulary from all Residential Children’s Care Homes within the 
county and action is taken to reduce demand. 

 
 Recommendation Four 

That the Council’s Corporate Parenting Panel receive regular 
information relating to reported incidents to Durham Constabulary, for 
County Durham children looked after who reside within a residential 
children’s care home within County Durham with a specific focus on 
reports of missing from home.  

 
Recommendation Five 
That following an evaluation of the trial of the accreditation scheme, the 
Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services takes 
proposals for a revised scheme to Corporate Parenting Panel.  As part 
of the implementation of a revised scheme it should be promoted with 
all children’s residential care homes within County Durham..  
 
Recommendation Six 
That the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership give consideration 
to lobbying regionally and nationally for agreement to explore an 
accreditation scheme for residential children’s care homes nationally. 

  

Page 61



 

 
 

Appendix 1  

Terms of Reference  

The review has undertaken research to gain an understanding of concerns 
associated with the impact of private children’s residential care home on 
demand of services and explore approaches to lobby government/ national 
bodies for tighter legislation. This area was identified by the Director of 
Children’s Services and concerns were raised by Members and partner 
agencies which the objectives of the review were:  
 

a) To gain an understanding of the impact of out of area placements in 

private children’s residential care homes within the county and 

associated demands on Council and partner agencies. 

  

b) To consider and comment on current legislation and regulation to 

identify any gaps and explore approaches to lobby for tighter regulation 

and accreditation. 

  

c) To consider existing practices and identify gaps to how communication 

and engagement can be improved between the parent authority, private 

children’s residential care homes and the Council. 

 

d) To hold focus group sessions to seek views on engagement, legislation, 

demand and community issues with contacts from private children’s 

residential care homes, Children in Care Council and Elected Members. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 62



 

 
 

Appendix 2 

Review Meetings Held 

 
The review has gathered evidence through desktop research, meetings with 
officers from the Durham County Council and Durham Constabulary and 
undertaken focus group activity with elected members, children in care council 
and children’s residential care home managers.    

 

Date Activity/Venue 

30/10/2018 Working Group Meeting – Overview Session, County 
Hall, Durham   

19/11/2018  Focus Group Session – Elected Members, County Hall, 
Durham    

29/11/2018 Working Group Meeting – Demand, Risk and Impact on 
Communities, County Hall, Durham  

14/01/2019 Focus Group Session – Children in Care Council, 
County Hall Durham   

31/01/2019 Working Group Meeting – Current regulation, legislation 
and engagement, County Hall, Durham  

15/02/2019 Focus Group Session – Children’s Homes Managers 
Network Meeting, Police HQ, Durham  

26/03/2019 Working Group Meeting – Accreditation and Partnership 
Arrangements, County Hall, Durham  

07/06/2019 Working Group Meeting – Consideration of Findings 
from the Review, County Hall, Durham 

 
 
  

Page 63



 

 
 

APPENDIX 3 – Summary of Legislation  

Children’s Residential Care Homes 

Legislation and Planning 

The Children Act 1989, Guidance and Regulations Volume 2 – Care 

planning, Placement and care review 2015 

This legislation places a duty on the responsible authority when a child is in 

their care to provide the child with accommodation.  It provides a framework 

within decisions about the most appropriate way to accommodate and 

maintain the child must be considered. 

In relation to distant placements local authorities are required to consult and 

share information before placing children in distant placements and must be 

approved by the DCS.  When making a distant placement the placing authority 

to consult with the are authority in ‘good time’ to enable assessment of 

appropriateness.  This does not mean the area authority has a veto over the 

placing authority’s placement decision. 

The Care and Standards Act 2000 

This Act sets out what is a Children’s home and what is not a children’s home 

and any property defined as a children’s home in the Act must register with 

Ofsted who are required to carry out two inspections per year and one of 

these must be a full inspection. 

A children’s Home must have: - registered provider; a registered manager; a 

statement of purpose; a children’s guide setting out what a child can expect 

from the home and policies and procedures as detailed in the Children’s 

Homes (England) Regulations 2015. 

Children’s Homes (England) Regulations 2015 

Provides the regulations as to Children’s Homes in England should be ran.  

The Government produced ‘Guide to the Children’s Homes Regulations 

including the quality standards’ to accompany this legislation. 

 

Regulation 44 sets out what is required by the independent person when 

visiting the children’s home and who should receive a copy of their report 

including upon request, the local authority for the area in which the home is 

located. 

 

Guide to the Children’s Homes Regulations including the quality standards 

The guide covers the key principles of residential care and the quality 

standards that must be met by children’s homes.  It provides more information 

in relation to the regulations. 

Page 64



 

 
 

From a Distance 2014 (Ofsted) 

Ofsted highlight that the notification system of out of area placements to the 

‘receiving’ local authority is unreliable and when proper notifications do not 

happen this can lead absence or delay in the provision of protection and 

support to the child.  It also impacts on the receiving authority and other 

agencies by them being undermined by inaccurate information about the 

number of and needs of children living in their area.  

 

The Ofsted report highlights that some receiving local authorities did not have 

a sufficient understanding of the needs of children placed in their area by 

other local authorities. 

 

Residential Care in England – Sir Martin Narey Report 

The report recommends that local authorities and consortia to be cautious 

about following any hard and fast rule about placement distance and 

recognise that the right placement for the child is more important than 

location.  They should no longer impose geographical restrictions on where 

homes must be located in order to be included in contracts. 

 

Education Select Committee’s report into residential care 2016 

The Select Committee suggested that “the Government commissions a study, 

assessing the impact of a rule prohibiting local authorities from placing a child 

more than 20 miles from home, unless there is a proven need to do so”.  

However the government responded that it “understands the Committee’s 

concerns, we do not believe that conducting a separate study on the 

implications of a 20-mile radius cap, in isolation from other factors, would help 

to resolve the core issues affecting the quality of local authority placement 

commissioning and social work support”  Instead, “the solution we and the 

sector continue to work towards is ensuring sufficient local provision to 

accommodate the needs of the children in care”  

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 Corporate Parenting Panel  

31 January 2020 

Quarter Two 2019/20 Performance 

 

Report of Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality and Strategy 
Manager, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to present Corporate Parenting Panel with 
background information and the performance scorecard in advance of a 
presentation providing an overview of performance in relation to looked 
after children and care leavers by Stephen Tracey, Corporate Equality 
and Strategy Manager. 

Executive summary 

2 Durham County Council’s Strategy Team have developed a 
performance management framework (PMF) for Corporate Parenting 
Panel (CPP) based upon the Local Government Association’s Key 
Lines of Enquiry (KLOE) identified for looked after children and care 
leavers 

3 The full CPP PMF scorecard for quarter 2 is attached at Appendix 2. 
The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager, Stephen Tracey will 
deliver a presentation at the meeting giving an overview of performance 
for quarter 2. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to note 
information contained within the scorecard and presentation and 
comment accordingly. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10a



Background 

5 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel receive quarterly 
performance updates to ensure they are sighted on performance within 
County Durham, along with relevant comparisons to our ststistical 
neighbours. 

Conclusion 

6 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will be sighted on 
performance in relation to looked after children and care leavers, and 
will have an opportunity to discuss performance at the meeting. 

Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• Performance scorecare 

 

Author(s)   
Stephen Tracey Tel:  03000 268029 

  

Page 68



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

We have a duty to comply with all statutory duties in relation to the children 

and young people who are in the care of DCC    

Finance 

NA 

Consultation 

NA 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

NA 

Climate Change 

NA 

Human Rights 

NA 

Crime and Disorder 

NA 

Staffing 

Staffing within Children’s Services will impact upon social worker caseloads 

Accommodation 

NA 

Risk 

Reputational risk to the Council and Corporate Parenting Panel if it is not 

judged to be performing effectively by Ofsted 

Procurement 

NA 

 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

County Durham Children Looked After Strategic Partnership: Performance Management Framework

What are the characteristics of our cohort of children in care and care leavers?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Rate of CLA per 10,000 u18 population [Number] 63 60 62 68 81
79.6
[798]

82.9
[833]

86.4
[873]

86.9
[878]

@2 Oct 
2019

N/A
82.1
[826]  65 101 90*

Age and length of time in care See chart 1
@2 Oct 

2019
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

CLA Placement breakdown See chart 2 
@2 Oct 

2019
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA placed over 20 miles (outside LA boundary) 5.6 5.8 5.7 5.9 6.9 6.9 7 7.4 7.4
@31 Mar 

2019
N/A 5.8  15 9 8*

Number of children placed for adoption 25 25 28 26
@2 Oct 

2019
N/A 28  N/A N/A N/A

Percentage of CLA who are unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
[Number]

0.6%
[5]

0.4%
[3]

0.4%
[3]

0.3%
[3]

0.34%
[3]

@2 Oct 
2019

N/A
0.36%

[3]  6 1 2*

Social worker caseloads See table 3 @Sep 2019 <20 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Do our partner agencies understand their role in supporting us as corporate parents?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Number of CLA reported as missing or absent from care [occurrences]
39

[117]
55

[221]
49

[248]
29

[80]
30

[77]
Jul - Sep 

2019
N/A

28
[71] 

Percentage of Return to Home Interviews completed with CLA
96.9%
[186 of 

192]

98.3%
[236 of 240]

98%
[55 of 56]

81%
[54 of 67]

Jul - Sep 
2019

N/A
97.0% 

[65 of 67] 

Percentage of CLA with a missing incident during the year 3.8 3.7% 4.0% 2.6% 5.3% 4.7% NND N/A 5.3% 11 10 11*

Percentage of CSE referrals that were CLA
8%

[10 of 122]
10%

[3 of 29]
TBC N/A

6.4%
[5 of 78] 

Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaire - Average score 15.3 15.5 15.8 14.7 16.0 15.5  14 NND NND N/A N/A 14 14 14

Percentage of CLA achieving the expected Key Stage 1 standard in:
Reading

61.0% 38.1% 46.7% NND NND N/A
51%

(2017/18)
55%

(2017/18)

Writing 48.0% 23.8% 26.7% NND NND N/A
42%

(2017/18)
48%

(2017/18)

Maths 57.0% 42.9% 33.3% NND NND N/A
46%

(2016/17)
49%

(2016/17)

Percentage of CLA achieving the expected Key Stage 2 standard in 
Reading, Writing and Maths

44.0% 35.1% 36.6% NND NND N/A
35%

(2017/18)
39%

(2017/18)

Average Attainment 8 score of Children Looked After (Key Stage 4) 21.9 23.2 NND NND N/A
18.8

(2017/18)
20.8

(2017/18)

Percentage of CLA permanently excluded [number of children] 0% 0.3% 0% 0% 0% 0% NND NND NND N/A
0.1%

(2016/17)
Percentage of CLA with at least one fixed exclusion from school [number 
of children]

8.6% 7.0% 9.5% 8.0% 11.1% 9% NND NND NND N/A
11.8% 

(2016/17)
10.4%

(2016/17)
10.7%

(2016/17)

Percentage of CLA classed as persistent absentees (Maintained schools) 3.6% 4.7% 6.4% 6.9% NND NND N/A
10.6%

(2017/18)
9.5%

(2017/18)
8.9%

(2017/18)

NND - No New Data
*2017/18

P
age 71

A
genda Item

 10b



Appendix 1

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of children looked after continuously for 12 months or more 
aged 10+ who received a conviction [number of children]

10.2%
[25]

5.9%
[15]

3.8%
[10]

3.6%
[10]

4.4%
[14]

4.6%
[16]

4.6%
[17]

3.2%
[12]

3.4%
[13]

@Sep 2019 5%
4.5%
[16]  4.1% 4.9% 5.0%

How are we giving children and young people the chance to express their views, wishes and feelings? How do we know those are being acted on?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q1 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of CLA accessing an independent visitor [Number]
1.23%
[10]

1.25%
[10]

2.5%
[21]

2.2%
[19]

2.1%
[18]

@Sep 2019 N/A
1.8%
[15] 

Work is ongoing to determine how the Voice of the Child is captured within County Durham

How do we show children in our care that we have high aspirations for them?
Not evidenced through performance measures

Are we providing stable environments for children in our care?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Percentage of CLA with 3 or more placements during the year 14 13 7 6
6.7%

[55 of 815]
8.4%                         

[67 of 800]
10.7%

[90 of 840]
TBC TBC 5%

10.5%
[86 of 821]

10 9 10

Percentage of CLA continuously for 2.5 years or more aged under 16 who 
were living in the same placement for at least 2 years

62 54 57 69 72.6
69.3%                      

[187 of 270]
63.9%

[195 of 305]
TBC TBC 72%

67.5%
[187 of 277]

70 73 71

Average number of days between a child entering care and moving in 
with its adoptive family, for children who have been adopted

533 449 420 477
446

(prov)
NND 571 463

Oct 2018 - 
Sep 2019

426 396  520
(2014-17)

535
(2014-17)

540.2
(2014-17)

Average number of days between an LA receiving court authority to place 
a child and the LA deciding on a match to an adoptive family, for children 
who have been adopted

238 211 173 196
194

(prov)
NND 225 160

Oct 2018 - 
Sep 2019

121 163 
220

(2014-17)
198

(2014-17)
235.2

(2014-17)

Percentage of children adopted from care (as % of total children leaving 
care) [number of children adopted shown in brackets]

25.4%
[73]

17.3%
[45]

11.1%
[28]

17.3%
[53]

14.2%
[53]

12.3
[39 of 316]

9*
[7 of 78]

11.3
[22 of 186]

Apr - Sep 
2019

15%
12.7%

[21 of 167]  12.8 14.2 19

Number of Mainstream Foster Carers (Approved in period) 26 24 22 25 28 26 4 8
Apr - Sep 

2019
N/A 9  N/A N/A N/A

Number of Friends and Family Foster Carers (Approved in period) 25 41 40 46 51 52 11 24
Apr - Sep 

2019
N/A 33  N/A N/A N/A

Number of Friends and Family Carers Temporarily Approved as Foster 
Carers (Approved in period)

132 124 88 35 65
Apr - Sep 

2019
N/A 36  N/A N/A N/A

Number of Adopters (Approved in period) 58 42 35 22 25 22 5 11
Apr - Sep 

2019
N/A 9  N/A N/A N/A

What are we doing to look after the health and wellbeing of children in our care?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Initial Health Assessments completed within 20 working days of the child 
becoming looked after

100.0 100.0 95.6 100% 84.8% 74.4% 62.9%
65%

[71 of 109]
77%

[76 of 99]
Jul - Sep

2019
N/A

62.2%
[56 of 90]  N/A N/A N/A

CLA with the required number of health assessments 92.0 95.1 93.5 89.0 84.8 89.9% 91.4% 89.8% 85%
@1 Dec 

2019
N/A

87.7%                         
[484 of 552]  88

(2017/18)
94

(2017/18)
95

(2017/18)

CLA who have had a dental check 92.0 90.2 97.9 95.5 87.1 94.8% 85.5% 94.7% 78%
@1 Dec 

2019
N/A

92.4%                     
[510 of 552] 

84
(2017/18)

89
(2017/18)

89
(2017/18)

P
age 72



Appendix 1

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

CLA whose immunisations were up-to-date 100 100 95.6 100 84.8 99.2% 99.3% 99.3% NND N/A  85
(2017/18)

93
(2017/18)

85
(2017/18)

CLA whose development assessments were up to date 85.7 100.0 97.0 66.7 71.4 81.4 95.0% 95.0% NND N/A  85
(2017/18)

90
(2017/18)

91
(2017/18)

% CLA identified as having a substance misuse problem in the year 2.3 2.4 1.6 x 1.6 1.4 1.9% 1.9% NND N/A  3.7 2.3 4

Percentage of new presentations to drug and alcohol treatment during 
period who were CLA [Number]

7%
[14 of 193]

10%
[18 of 185]

20%
[9 of 46]

10%
[9 of 93]

Apr - Sep 
2019

N/A
8% 

[7 of 90]  11% N/A N/A

Care leavers aged 17-21 who are pregnant or mothers (as a % of female 
care leavers)

31.1%
[32 of 103]

35.7%                     
[40 of 112]

NND
11.8%

[28 of 110]
15.6%

[14 of 90]
@ 11 Oct 

2019
N/A

29.1%
[32 of 110]  N/A N/A N/A

What are outcomes like for our care leavers?

Measure 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Q1 

2019/20
Q2 

2019/20
Source Date Target

Q2
2018/19

DoT England
North 
East

Stat 
Neighbour

Number of children looked after reaching 18 who 'stay put' 26 NND 26 24 N/A 30 
Number of children looked after reaching 18 who 'stay put' with foster 
carers

23 NND 19 9 N/A 23 
Number of children looked after reaching 18 who 'stay put' in supported 
lodgings

3 NND 7 15 N/A 7 

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in education, employment or 
training (EET)

80%
[50 of 61]

84%
[50 of 60]

82%
[51 of 63]

63.9%
[53 of 83]

61.2%
[41 of 67]

52%
[35 of 67]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
85.9%

[73 of 85]  64 66 64

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in suitable accommodation
100%

[61 of 61]
93%

[55 of 60]
96%

[66 of 69]
96.4%

[80 of 83]
88.1%

[59 of 67]
91%

[61 of 67]
@ 11 Oct 

2019
N/A

92.9%
[79 of 85]  89 93 84

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 in higher education
0%
[0]

0%
[0]

0%
[0]

0%
[0]

0%
[0]

1%
[1 of 67]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
0%
[0]  3 3 0

Percentage of care leavers aged 17-18 not in education, employment or 
training (NEET)

14.3%
[9 of 63]

36.1%
[30 of 83]

38.8%
[26 of 67]

48%
[32 of 67]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
10.6%

[9 of 85]  30 32 39

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in education, employment or 
training (EET)

49%
[85 of 
171]

62%
[110 of 

173]

59%
[95 of 160]

54.0%
[87 of 161]

59.4%
[82 of 138]

60%
[72 of 120]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
51.6% 

[83 of 161]  51 52 58

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation
91%

[155 of 
170]

87%
[150 of 

170]

87%
[139 of 160]

94.4%
[152 of 161]

87.0%
[120 of 138]

98%
[117 of 119]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
84.5%

[136 of 161]  84 91 90

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 in higher education
5.8%
[10 of 
171]

8.7%
[15 of 173]

7.5%
[12 of 160]

8.7%
[14 of 161]

8.0%
[11 of 138]

11%
[13 of 120]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
7.5%

[12 of 161]  6 7 8

Percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 not in education, employment or 
training (NEET)

47%
[81 of 
171]

29%
[50 of 173]

32%
[51 of 160]

41.0%
[66 of 161]

40.6%
[56 of 138]

39%
[47 of 120]

@ 11 Oct 
2019

N/A
36%

[58 of 161]  39 43 38

How are we planning for the future and commissioning services?
Not evidenced through performance measures

How well do we support our foster carers?
Not evidenced through performance measures

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Quarter 2 Performance 2019/20

Stephen Tracey

Corporate Equality and Strategy 

Manager

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 10c



Purpose

• Overview of performance for children looked 

after and care leavers

• Enable Corporate Parenting Panel to 

consider and comment on performance

• Focusses on the LGA’s Corporate Parenting 

Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) for elected 

members

P
age 76



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?

Around 900 children currently looked after

3rd lowest rate in region

P
age 77



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?
Caseloads

P
age 78



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?

P
age 79



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?

P
age 80



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?
2019/20:

2019/20
Spend on children looked 

after per head 0-17 years

Durham £484

England 

average
£401

North East 

average
£523

Statistical 

neighbours 

average

£485

Placement Type

Average 

weekly 

cost (£)

Average 

annual 

cost (£)

Number of 

current 

placements

External 

residential care
4,130 215,350 36

External 

residential 

school
3,737 194,858 2

In house 

residential
3,188 166,231 24

Independent 

fostering 

agency
778 40,567 129

In house foster 

care
407 21,222 436

Independent 

living
257 13,401 21

Friends & family 172 8,969 140

P
age 81



What are the characteristics of our cohort of 

children in care and care leavers?

Placement of CLA out of county at 

10 October 2019

243 out of county in total

Only 39 outside of North East

P
age 82



Do our partner agencies understand their 

role in supporting us as corporate parents?

Between July and September 2019:

• 30 children looked after were reported as missing or 

absent from care

• 6% in Durham compared to 11% nationally

• There were 77 incidents of a child looked after 

missing or absent from care

• Average time missing was 49 hours

• 81% had a return to home interview

• Majority of missing incidents from foster care were to 

have contact with family / friends

P
age 83



Are we providing stable environments for 

children in our care?

Between April and September 2019:

• 22 children were adopted 

• 11 adopters were approved

• 8 mainstream foster carers were approved

• 9 foster carers were deregistered at panel

• 99% CLA reviews completed in timescales in October 

• Work is ongoing to calculate placement stability for 

our children in care

P
age 84



3 year average

56 56
50

60
54

41

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

'11-14 '12-15 '13-16 '14-17 '15-18 Last 12

months

%
 c

h
il
d

re
n

SNs Eng LA

% children entering care and placed for 
adoption in less than 14 months

Adoption

P
age 85



What are we doing to look after the health 

and wellbeing of children in our care?

P
age 86



Do our partner agencies understand their 

role in supporting us as corporate parents?

Based on early indication, unvalidated CLA attainment 

data:

• KS1 - Improvement at all measures except reading

• KS2 – Significant improvement across the board 

including reading (focus for this cohort)

• KS4 - Improvement at all English / Maths / Basics 

measures, except at grade 9-4 English (sustained 

rise from 2018)

P
age 87



What are we doing to look after the health 

and wellbeing of children in our care?

Health assessments

Dental checks

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

with an up to date health 

assessment (in the last 6 months 

for CLA aged under 5, and in the 

last 12 months for CLA aged 5-

plus)

84%

Health assessments

93
89

85

91 93

84

75
80
85
90
95

100

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Latest

snapshot%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

Current open CLA who have been 

looked after for at least 12 months 

who have had a dental check in the 

last 12 months.

74%

Dental checks

98 95 87 95 86 74

0

50

100

150

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 Latest

snapshot%
 o

f 
C

L
A

 c
o

h
o

rt

SNs Eng LA

P
age 88



What are we doing to look after the health 

and wellbeing of children in our care?

P
age 89



Any Questions or comments?

P
age 90



 

 

 Corporate Parenting Panel  

31 January 2020 

Durham Virtual School Annual Report 

2018/19 

 

Report of Fiona Callaghan, Interim Virtual School Head, Durham 
County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to present Corporate Parenting Panel with 
the Durham Virtual School for the 2018/19 academic year. in advance 
of a presentation providing an overview by Fiona Callaghan, Interim 
Virtual School Head 

Executive summary 

2 Durham Virtual School champions care-experienced children and young 
people. We support parents, corporate parents, carers, schools and 
educational settings to support looked after and previously children in 
care so that they: 
(a) attend a school or setting which best meets their needs; 
(b) attend regularly; 
(c) make progress and achieve; 
(d) have a voice that positively impacts on the services they receive; 
(e) have stability in home, care and education placement; 
(f) receive good advice and guidance to progress into further education, 

employment and training and, where appropriate, university; 
(g) are well-prepared for adulthood; 
(h) receive recognition for their achievement and have their successes 

celebrated. 
 

3 The Durham Virtual School Annual Report 2018/19 is attached at 
Appendix 2. The interim Virtual School Head Fiona Callaghan will 
deliver a presentation at the meeting giving an overview of the report. 

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained 
within the annual report and presentation and comment accordingly 

Page 91

Agenda Item 11a



Background 

5 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel Virtual School sub group 
meet quarterly to provide greater political oversight and to monitor 
looked after children’s educational attainment and performance and 
encourage and support each looked after child to achieve optimum 
educational outcomes at each stage of their schooling 

 
Conclusion 

6 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel will be sighted on the work 
of the virtual school outlined in the report relting to children and young 
people in care and those who were previously looked after and will have 
an opportunity to discuss the content within the meeting. 

7  Background papers 

• None 

Other useful documents 

• Durham Virtual School Annual Report 2018/19 

Author(s)   
Fiona Callaghan Tel:  03000 268927 

  

Page 92



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

We have a duty to comply with all statutory duties in relation to the children 

and young people who are in the care of DCC    

Finance 

NA 

Consultation 

NA 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

NA 

Climate Change 

NA 

Human Rights 

NA 

Crime and Disorder 

NA 

Staffing 

Staffing within Children’s Services will impact upon social worker caseloads 

Accommodation 

NA 

Risk 

Reputational risk to the Council and Corporate Parenting Panel if it is not 

judged to be performing effectively by Ofsted 

Procurement 

NA 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Durham Virtual School 
Annual Report 2018-19 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 11b



 

Page | 2  
 Page 96



1 | P a g e  
 

Page | 1  
 

This report contains early indication, unvalidated data. 
All national comparisons are against 2018 measures at 
this stage. 
 

Durham Virtual School champions care-experienced children and young 
people. We support parents, corporate parents, carers, schools and 
educational settings to support looked after and previously children in 
care so that they:  

• attend a school or setting which best meets their needs; 
• attend regularly; 
• make progress and achieve; 
• have a voice that positively impacts on the services they receive; 
• have stability in home, care and education placement; 
• receive good advice and guidance to progress into further 

education, employment and training and, where appropriate, 
university; 

• are well-prepared for adulthood; 
• receive recognition for their achievement and have their successes 

celebrated. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



2 | P a g e  
 

Page | 2  
 

Contents  
Executive Summary Looked After Children 2018-19 (unvalidated data) 4 

Summary statement 4 

Headlines 4 

Key Stage 1 5 

Key Stage 2 5 

Key Stage 1 -2 Progress 5 

Key Stage 4 5 

Attendance and Exclusions 6 

School Stability 6 

Personal Education Plans and Pupil Premium Plus 7 

1. Introduction 8 

2. Durham Virtual School 8 

2.1 What is the role of the Virtual School and how well are we doing? 8 

2.2 Who are we? 9 

2.3 Structure Diagram 10 

2.4 Who do we report to and how are we held accountable? 10 

3. Profile of learners and numbers on roll at the virtual school 10 

3.1 How many learners are on roll? 10 

3.2 What is the profile of the cohort? 11 

3.3 How well do we promote placement and school stability? 11 

3.4 How many of the cohort have Special Educational Needs? 13 

3.5 What are the primary needs of our cohort with an EHCP? 14 

3.6 How do virtual school caseworkers support looked after children with identified special 
educational needs? 

15 

3.7 How do we collaborate to support looked after children with identified SEN? 16 

4. Duties to previously looked after children 16 

4.1 How do we meet our duty towards previously looked after children? 16 

4.2 How many previously looked after children of statutory school age are there? 16 

5. Achievement and Progress 17 

5.1 How well do our children achieve in Early Years? 17 

5.2 How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 1? 17 

5.3 What does the phonics data tell us? 18 

5.4 How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 2? 19 

5.5 How much progress did our children make between KS1 and KS2? 21 

Page 98



3 | P a g e  
 

Page | 3  
 

5.6 How well do our young people achieve in English and Maths KS4 21 

5.7 How well do our young people achieve across all subjects (A8 andP8)? 23 

5.8 How well do our young people achieve and participate at KS5 / post 16? 23 

5.9 What were the destinations for our young people? 24 

5.10 How do we support our young people to ensure they participate in EET? 25 

5.11 How well do our young people achieve and participate in Higher Education? 26 

5.12 How did we make a difference for care leavers? 27 

6. Attendance and Exclusion 
27 

6.1 How well do our young people attend school? 27 

6.2 How many of our young people have been excluded? 29 

7. Admissions, transitions, managed moves and OOC placements                   30 
7.1 How many children moved school mid-year? 30 

7.2 How many of our children experienced managed moves? 31 

7.3 How many of our children are placed in out of county education settings? 31 

8. Personal Education Plans (PEP), (PP+) and Academic Progress 31 

8.1 How does the virtual school ensure the quality of the PEPS? 31 

8.2 What information does the PEP record? 32 

8.3 What is the quality of the PEPs? 32 

8.4 How do we distribute pupil premium plus funding? 33 

8.5 What is the centrally held budget spent on? 33 

8.6 What academic support and intervention do we provide form central funding? 35 

8.7 What therapeutic support do we provide from central funding? 35 

8.8 How do schools spend their allocation? 35 

9. Training Provision 36 

10. Support for mental and emotional wellbeing  37 

10.1 What screening takes place? 37 

10.2 How does our Educational Psychologist make a difference? 37 

10.3 How do our counsellors make a difference? 38 

11. Voice of the Young Person  40 

12. Enrichment, Unleashing Aspiration and Celebration   40 

12.1 What do we currently offer? 40 

12.2 What are we planning for 2019-20  to support enrichment? 40 

12.3 How do we celebrate success? 41 

 

Page 99



4 | P a g e  
 

Page | 4  
 

Summary  41 

14. Outline Priorities for 2019-20    41 

15. Recommendation  42 

Appendix A – Wider teams   43 

  
  

Page 100



5 | P a g e  
 

Page | 5  
 

Executive Summary Children in care 2018-19 (unvalidated 
data) 
In line with DfE reporting, the data reported in this document is based on those children and 
young people who have been continuously looked after for a minimum of 12 months from April 
1st, 2018 to March 31st, 2019 – hereafter referred to as the reporting cohort. This executive 
summary covers statutory school age, whilst the body of the report also includes Early Years 
and Post 16.  

Summary statement 
At Durham Virtual School we believe we are making a difference to the education of children 
and young people in care. This report evidences broadly positive educational outcomes, 
strong progress from entry to care, good attendance, few exclusions, high aspirations, strong 
vocational and academic pathways and effective preparation for adulthood. This is all brought 
about by a virtual school team which advocates strongly and loudly for our young people and 
collaborative working.  Over the last two years we have insisted on an increasing focus on the 
education of children in care within schools and with our partners and raised the profile of the 
work of the virtual school, developing very close working relationships with headteachers. 
There have been structure and staffing changes over this time which have brought challenges. 
As caseworkers embraced their new roles, including statutory assessment for children with 
SEND, the time available for supporting the education of children in care was significantly 
reduced. Following changes to the team in 2018-19, we have refocused some roles to 
prioritise the education of children in care.  

Headlines  
Emerging, unvalidated data indicates that the overall performance shows improvement at all 
measures except reading at KS1, is very positive at KS2, with significant improvement across 
the board, including in reading which was our focus for 2018-19 with this cohort. At KS4 there 
was improvement at all English / Maths/ Basics measures at KS4, except at grade 9-4 English 
which sustained the rise from 2018. Once again there was an improvement at the higher 
grades, an ongoing focus for us.  

Key Stage 1 
Of the 29 pupils in the reporting cohort for 2018-19, 23 attended schools with an Ofsted 
judgement of good or outstanding. Those children in other schools had strong support, had 
their needs met, and made some progress. Once again, small numbers make year on year 
trends statistically unreliable, however there were almost twice as many in the 2019 reporting 
cohort than in 2018. 44.8% achieved expected standards or better (EXS+) in reading, a slight 
dip of 2%, but more children achieved EXS in writing and maths than in 2018. All outcomes 
except writing were above FFT (Fischer Family Trust) targets, except writing which was in line. 

5 children were supported by an EHCP (Education, Health Care Plan) and 6 children had SEN 
support plans. 4 children were working at P scales, the measures used to record progress for 
children with special educational needs (SEND) and made some progress. 

 

Page 101



6 | P a g e  
 

Page | 6  
 

 
Durham Gap - all children 2019 values 
34.5% of the reporting CLA cohort achieved the expected standard or better in reading, 
writing and maths (RWM), an improvement of 8%.  For all children in Durham, this figure is 
67.6%. The gap has remained static. 

National Gap - looked after cohort 2018 values 
For the reporting cohort, all indicators were below the 2018 national average for CLA, but 
above or in line with FFT targets. The gap against national averages for CLA narrowed 
substantially in maths and RWM but widened slightly in reading. 

Key Stage 2 
Of the reporting cohort of 41 pupils, 97.5%, attended schools with an Ofsted judgement of 
good or outstanding. 1 child remained in an RI school to maintain stability and received strong 
support. We are pleased that at all measures, the number of children meeting EXS exceeded 
FFT targets. All measures improved from 2018, with reading and maths (both 63%) showing 
significant improvement of just over 20%. We had targeted reading 2018-19, making this high 
priority with headteachers and other colleagues and developing a project around books. 
Equally we had shared our concerns about maths outcomes with schools. 5 children were 
working at P scales; they all made progress. 10 children are supported by an EHCP and were 
not expected to meet national standards. 

 

Durham Gap - all children (2019 values) 
54% of the reporting cohort achieved EXS+ in RWM with the gap between them and all 
Durham reducing to 13%, this was less than half the gap of 2018. The gaps at all 
measures have significantly reduced.  

National Gap – Looked After Cohort (2018 values) 
For the reporting cohort, reading, writing, maths, GPS are significantly above national 
averages for the looked after cohort for 2018. 

Key Stage 1 -2 Progress  
The 41 children included in the cohort for KS1-2 had a positive progress score in reading 
which means they made better progress than Durham children and this is better than the 
national average for 2018.  Progress in writing and maths was not as strong, with a negative 
score, but above the national averages for 2018.  

Key Stage 4 
Of the 56 pupils in the reporting cohort, 12 attended special schools, 6 young people attended 
independent special schools to meet their individual needs or specialist provision appropriate 
to need.  63% attended schools with an Ofsted judgement of good or better. 5% attended 
schools with an Ofsted inadequate rating; remaining in school to provide stability for them 
when they entered care. These young people all achieved the basics measure at 4+ and some 

Page 102



7 | P a g e  
 

Page | 7  
 

achieved at this at 5+. English results indicate the improvement from 2018 was broadly 
sustained with 41.1% achieving grades 9-4 (a slight dip of less than 3% from 2018 equating 
to 1 pupil) and 26.79% achieving 9-5, a slight increase.  Once again, more young people 
achieved grade 5 in both maths and English. Maths results improved, but remain a focus, 
especially for girls. All key indicators for English, Maths and Basics were better than the 
national 2018 outcomes for children in care.  No young people in the reporting cohort achieved 
a standard pass or above at the EBACC suite of qualifications. This is an area for further 
investigation, but it is evident that very few of our young people take / achieve MFL. 

Achievement 8 increased from 23.2 in 2018 to 24.2 in 2019, this is above the 2018 national 
average. 

Attendance and Exclusions 
We are delighted that as a result of strong partnerships and swift support and intervention by 
Virtual School Caseworkers, there have been no permanent exclusions of Durham children 
children in care since 2014. We have sought alternatives to permanent exclusions and 
caseworkers have been successful in working with social workers to engage young people in 
appropriate education setting and schools.  Fixed term exclusions rose nationally and 
regionally in 2017, but we are concerned that this rose faster in Durham, so that we moved 
from quartile A to B.  We have highlighted this with schools and analysed the data to inform 
future practice. The overall attendance for children in care has remained consistently high 
since 2014. In 2018 overall absence was 3.2%, significantly better than the national (4.5%) 
and regional (4.1%) averages. Persistent absence at 6.9% was well below the national 
average of 10.6% and the regional average of 9.5%1 This is lowest in primary schools and 
highest in SEMH special schools. 

School Stability 
We appreciate the correlation between stability of placement and educational attainment and 
life chances and take cognisance of the Children’s Commissioner’s Report and Stability Index 
to avoid unnecessary or inappropriate school movement. 8% of children and young people 
experienced an in-year school move 2016-17 (the most recent published data) and 4% 
experienced a move in both 2015/16 and 2016/172. The 2019 report from Children’s 

                                                            
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/outcomes-for-children-looked-after-by-las-31-march-2018 
2Children’s Commissioner’s Office Stability Index report for Durham 2018 

Durham Gap - all children (2018 values) 

25% of the reporting cohort achieved grades 9-4 in the basics measure and 9% achieved 
9-5. Whilst the gap is still too big against all Durham children, it has reduced by 10% (from 
44% to 34%) at the 9-4 measure and by just under 2% at 9-5 bringing the gap to below 30% 
for the first time.  

National Gap – Looked After Cohort (2018 values) 

For the reporting cohort, English is significantly above the national and regional averages 
for 2018. Maths and the basics measure are broadly in line nationally but below the regional 
average for 2018. The 2019 averages are still emerging.  

Page 103



8 | P a g e  
 

Page | 8  
 

Commissioner’s Office3 shows that fewer Durham children had multiple placement and school 
moves than nationally. 

Personal Education Plans and Pupil Premium Plus 
Following a slight drop in the quality of the PEP in 2017-18, we planned for improvement for 
2018-19. However, changes to the team structure resulted in some initial delays and 
inconsistency in the initial quality assurance process. This has been firmly addressed by a 
realignment of the roles of the caseworkers so that they have dedicated time for this and there 
is robust standardisation of judgements. The quality of PEPs improved slightly in 2018-19, but 
we know this needs greater focus and development. As a result, we have commissioned an 
electronic system from September 2019. We changed our guidance for schools on Pupil 
Premium Plus (PP+) in 2018-19, streamlining the allocation and suggesting that, where 
appropriate, schools could pool resources to meet the needs of the cohort.  Progress and 
attainment data suggest that this is having a positive impact across the key stages. We have 
encouraged schools to use the funding effectively to meet emotional and social needs as well 
as focusing on the academic outcomes. We have challenged schools where we considered 
the spending of PP+ was not having an impact. 

                                                            
3 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/cco-stability-index-2019.pdf and 
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/stability-index-2019/  

Page 104

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/cco-stability-index-2019.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/stability-index-2019/


9 | P a g e  
 

Page | 9  
 

1. Introduction 
As Virtual School Head for Durham County Council, I am pleased to present the 2019 Annual 
Report for Durham Virtual School which details our work, alongside our partners and the wider 
local authority to improve progress, outcomes and ultimately the life-chances of the children 
in our care.  

The body of the report will outline successes, areas still to develop and priorities from Early 
Years to Post 16 and up to 25 where appropriate.  

In drawing comparisons or looking for trends, the small numbers at some key stages makes 
data statistically insignificant when compared to the national picture. The nature of our young 
people means that year on year cohorts can be very different, so progress measures are 
sometimes more useful that absolute attainment. We measure ourselves against the looked 
after cohort nationally and regionally and against all children in Durham and, where 
appropriate, nationally.  

For national data we draw on the DfE Statistical First Release. Since 2017 we have used a 
data tool from NCER NEXUS to provide a more forensic analysis through a range of indicators 
which could impact on progress, for example, length of time in care or primary special need. 
We have bought into SISRA and O Track to help us to track, monitor and analyse current 
progress.  

2. Durham Virtual School 
2.1 What is our role and how well are we doing? 
The role of the Virtual School Head and the Durham team is to take the lead in promoting the 
educational achievement of looked after, and from September 2018, that of previously children 
in care. Both are included in the scope of this report. We set aspirational targets and then work 
closely with schools, the wider authority and other partners to deliver the best experience 
possible so that children in care and young people can achieve success, thereby improving 
their life chances. 

We want our children in care to attend, engage and enjoy school so that they can achieve. We 
are working hard to ensure their voice is heard and has impact, but this is an area for further 
development.   

Our priorities feed directly into, and support: 

• Corporate Parenting Strategy and Key Lines of Enquiry  

• The Children and Young People’s Strategy for Durham 

• Durham Promise 

As a Virtual School we strive to build on the very strong provision in place for all children in 
care. This year we have continued to build on our strengths, using accurate and detailed data 
along with knowledge of the children and young people to target support more effectively. We 
have streamlined our allocation of the PP+ grant to schools to enable forward planning and 
we have focused on supporting schools to be more attachment and trauma aware. Having 
analysed outcomes from 2018, we have also developed tailored projects and intervention to 
address our priorities for reading at KS2.    

Page 105



10 | P a g e  
 

Page | 10  
 

The restructure of the wider casework team to become a bigger team for SEND, Looked After 
Children and Vulnerable Groups in September 2018 provided challenge in terms of ensuring 
that the education of children in care continued to be high priority. The transition period was 
difficult and, having considered the impact, the decision has been taken to further realign the 
team. Despite the challenges, the team has been able to maintain the high level of support for 
our young people and challenge for schools.  

2.2  Who are we? 
The Virtual School Head (VSH) is an experienced school leader who sits within the Education 
Service, has a school improvement role alongside the VSH role, and works in partnership 
across teams. Durham is a member of NAVSH and the VSH attends the local and national 
networks.  Since September 2018 the VSH has been the joint lead for the north east regional 
network of virtual school heads which also provides a place on the extended board of NAVSH. 

We work in close partnership with teams in Social Care, Health, Early Years, Progression and 
Learning and the wider Inclusion Team as well the School Improvement Team. In 2018-19, 
the VSH has been a member of strategic planning through the Education Senior Management 
Team, Looked after Children Strategic Partnership Group and The Looked After Children 
Health Partnership Group. A recent development has been the establishment of the Virtual 
School Review and Development Operational group, chaired by the VSH. 

Following the reorganisation of Children’s and Young People’s Services, the virtual school 
team (other than the VSH) alongside other SEND and Inclusion colleagues moved from the 
Education Service to become part of the Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children’s 
Service.  Within the new structure, we retained a dedicated deputy head of the virtual school 
to maintain the high profile of children in care within the wider team.  Further review of the 
impact of the work has led to the identification of 4 caseworkers with dedicated roles for the 
education of children in care.   

 

Page 106



11 | P a g e  
 

Page | 11  
 

2.3 Structure Diagram 

 
      

2.4  Who do we report to and how are we held accountable? 
The Virtual School develops an operational plan and carries out regular self-evaluation against 
this. The VSH reports to the Head of Service for Education and Skills through Education SMT 
and also meets with the heads of Social Care and EHIVC. The VSH also attends the Corporate 
Parenting Panel (CPP) and presents the annual report and education outcomes. Line 
management and reporting for the wider team sits within EHIVC through the Strategic 
Manager for Special Educational Needs. Operational governance is now through the 
Operational Group (VSOG).  As a virtual school we report to a sub group of the CPP which is 
chaired by the vice-chair of the CPP and comprises elected members, local school leaders 
and representatives from care and fostering.  

3. Profile of learners and numbers on roll at the virtual 
school 

3.1  How many learners are on roll? 
As of September 2019, there were 529 learners (R – yr 11) on the roll of the virtual school. 
There was a further 131 post 16.  There are 231 unborn and early years. In total there was 
848 children and young people in the care of Durham County Council.  In addition, there are 
currently 148 non-Durham children in care in Durham schools. 

Table 1:   Number of CLA by year group July 2019 (please note this is a 
different date to the section above) 

 
Male Female Total % 

Total 
Male Female 

   R 18 13 31 4.8% 58.1% 41.9% 

Page 107



12 | P a g e  
 

Page | 12  
 

1 14 16 30 4.6% 46.7% 53.3% 
2 24 19 43 6.6% 55.8% 44.2% 
3 20 12 32 4.9% 62.5% 37.5% 
4 27 17 44 6.8% 61.4% 38.6% 
5 34 17 51 7.9% 66.7% 33.3% 
6 32 24 56 8.7% 57.1% 42.9% 
7 31 24 55 8.5% 56.4% 43.6% 
8 34 27 61 9.4% 55.7% 44.3% 
9 24 25 49 7.6% 49.0% 51.0% 

10 28 18 46 7.1% 60.9% 39.1% 
11 38 29 67 10.4% 56.7% 43.3% 
12 30 30 60 9.3% 50.0% 50.0% 
13 17 5 22 3.4% 77.3% 22.7%      

  
TOTAL 371 276 647 

 
57.3% 42.7% 

 

3.2  What is the profile of the cohort? 
There is an equal primary / secondary split. The gender split is 42,7% girls and 57.3% boys.  
15.6% of children and young people (R-yr 11) attend out of county schools which is a reduction 
of 1.4% from 2018. 84.4% are educated in Durham schools.  

As of July 2019, 80.3% of the current total attend a school with an Ofsted judgement of good 
or better. During the academic year 2018-19, 2 secondary schools with 14 children in care 
went into Ofsted category 4. Both schools were very inclusive, were attachment and trauma 
aware and provided excellent emotional and social support for our young people. To avoid 
additional trauma, we do not routinely remove a child from a school which becomes 
inadequate unless there was an exceptional reason, but we do provide additional academic 
support.  As of July 2019, 15 (2.6%) children and young people attended a school with an 
inadequate judgement, 12 of these are in secondary education. 17 young people of secondary 
age attended Durham SEMH special schools, one of these is judged to be good the other 2 
are RI. 

In the primary phase, 90% attend a good or better school. The figure is significantly lower at 
secondary with 63% attending a good or better school.  The LA is working closely with these 
schools to improve provision. As a virtual school we provide additional tuition as required.  

3.3  How well do we promote placement and school stability?  
School and placement stability are crucial to provide the security children in care need in order 
to learn. We advise social care teams to help them to maintain stability in the education setting. 
Where change is unavoidable or is advisable, the casework team ensure there is enhanced 
transition, and that all key information is shared. For an emergency placement, caseworkers 
work closely with the school to support integration. Those children who need to move schools 
during an academic year are supported by an additional plan and funding to meet their needs. 

Page 108



13 | P a g e  
 

Page | 13  
 

The 2019 report from Children’s Commissioner’s Office4 shows that fewer Durham children 
had multiple placement and school moves than nationally. The instability score was 
significantly better than our stability index neighbours. For repeated instability, both placement 
and school scores were broadly in line with national and regional levels.  School moves have 
remained consistent over the past 4 years: 31 in 2016, 35 in 2017, 34 in 2018, but increased 
to 55 in 2019.  79% of school moves were to support a permanent placement. 7 year 6 children 
moved mid-year, we would not normally sanction but they were all for permanence and to 
support transition. These moves were carefully planned to avoid an impact on SATS.  

 
School Stability from 2019 CCO Stability Index Underlaying Data 

 
 
Table 2: School Moves 2018-19  
 

 
Table 3:  School Moves 2018-19 by year group 
 

                                                            
4 https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/cco-stability-index-2019.pdf and 
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/stability-index-2019/  

14%

7%

2%

17%

11%

4%

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16% 18%

CLA with any school changes in 1
year

CLA with a mid-year move in 1
year

CLA with any school move in 2
consecutive years

ENGLAND DURHAM

Page 109

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/cco-stability-index-2019.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/publication/stability-index-2019/


14 | P a g e  
 

Page | 14  
 

 
 

3.4  How many of the cohort have Special Educational Needs (SEND)? 
Children in care are four times more likely5 to have an identified SEN and nine times more 
likely to have an Educational Health and Care Plan (EHCP) than all children. Nationally in 
2018, 55.5% of children in care had a special educational need compared to 14.4% of all 
children and 26.5% had an EHCP. In Durham 2018-19, 43.7% of children and young people 
(R-Y11) had identified special educational needs; 20.2% were supported by an EHCP whilst 
23.5% had school SEN support plans (K code). This is a decrease of 5.3% since the previous 
year. This increases at post 16 with 50.6% of young people with identified SEN, 33.7% had 
an EHCP.  

Table 4:  Number of CLA with SEND by year group July 2019 (for academic 
year 2018-19) 

   Year EHCP K Code 
0 2 1 
1 2 8 
2 5 10 
3 4 11 
4 7 16 
5 10 16 
6 6 14 
7 14 13 
 8 15 14 
9 12 10 
10 16 7 
11 22 12 

Total 115 132 
 

                                                            
5 DfE March 2018 Outcomes for children looked after by local authorities in England, 31 March 2017 

Page 110



15 | P a g e  
 

Page | 15  
 

The trend over the last 3 years follows the pattern of the numbers of young people 
with an EHCP increasing through key stage 3 and 4. The percentage with an EG+HCP 
doubles from primary to secondary school and by post 16 almost triples.  
 
Table 5:  Charts to show the rates of SEN across different phases 
 

     
 

     
 

 

 

3.5  What are the primary needs of our cohort with an EHCP? 
Nationally children in care are 3 times more likely to have social, emotional and mental health 
(SEMH) as their primary need than their peers. This is reflected in Durham where 54.5% of 

55.5%

21.9%

22.6%

% SEN  - All children in care 
(647)

No SEN EHCP SEN Support

56.3%
20.2%

23.5%

% SEN Statutory School Age 
- (565)

No SEN EHCP SEN Support

61.0%

12.5%

26.5%

% SEN - Primary Aged LAC 
(287)

No SEN EHCP SEN Support

51.4%
28.1%

20.5%

% SEN - Secondary LAC 
(278)

No SEN EHCP SEN Support

49.4%

33.7%

16.9%

% SEN - Post-16 (83) 

No SEN EHCP SEN Support

Page 111



16 | P a g e  
 

Page | 16  
 

our young people (R-yr11) have SEMH identified as their primary need, an increase of 4.5% 
from 2018. This increases to 56.6% at secondary school age. We are addressing this through 
raising awareness with schools and supporting them to be more attachment and trauma 
informed, so that they can respond more effectively to social and emotional needs and 
challenging behaviour. We also provide additional therapeutic support and swifter access to 
counselling and an educational psychologist so that needs can be met. Our casework team 
has expertise in SEND and offers strong advice and support through the SEND process. To 
meet this need for 2019-20 we have used the PP+ grant to increase our counselling offer and 
we are hoping to secure a Full Circle Social Worker. We are also looking to buy into an SLA, 
using de-delegated funding, with the Emotional Wellbeing and Effective Learning Team for 
early intervention. We also provide dedicated Occupational Therapy and Speech and 
Language support to help to support our children in care with SEND.  

Table 5: Charts to show primary need of CLA with EHCP 

 

 
 

3.6  How do virtual school caseworkers support children in care with identified 
special educational needs?  
Virtual School Caseworkers work closely with schools to ensure that the SEN graduated 
approach is followed.  This includes: 

5.6%

11.1%

5.6%

2.8%

50.0% SEMH

13.9%

11.1%

SEN Primary Need - YrR to Yr6 (36)

ASC MLD PD PMLD SEMH SLCN SLD

7.9%

17.1%

3.9%

1.3%56.6% SEMH

11.8% 1.3%

SEN Primary Need - Yr7 to Yr11 (75)

ASC MLD PD PMLD SEMH SLCN SLD

Page 112



17 | P a g e  
 

Page | 17  
 

• considering the needs of the looked after child and exploring with the school how they 
can be supported; 

• working with the school SENCO to put in place a SEN Support Plan; 

• supporting the school in requesting additional top up funding through the High Needs 
Budget if required to meet need; 

• facilitating the statutory assessment process; 

• continuing to support if a child moves to specialist provision to meet their needs. 

3.7  How do we collaborate to support children in care with identified SEN?  
The virtual school caseworkers are situated within the SEND, Looked After Children and 
Vulnerable Groups Team (SLAVG) and are all experienced in SEND casework. The virtual 
school head and deputy attend panel meetings where statutory assessment, top up funding 
and complex cases are considered so that we can advocate for the children in our care.  We 
work closely with social workers and increasingly closely with health teams within this process.  

4. Duties to previously looked after children 
4.1  How do we meet our duty towards previously looked after children? 
We adhere to the statutory guidance from 2018 which arose from the Children and Social Care 
Act 2017 to provide information and advice to parents, carers and educators or to signpost 
this.  We have promoted this with schools, provided advice and training for designated 
teachers and governors and provided some additional funding to identified schools to support 
awareness raising. From April 2019, we allocated the DfE additional funding6 provided to local 
authorities to a temporary specialist manager post so that there is some dedicated time within 
the team to support the education of previously looked after children.  The remit of this post is 
to develop a sustainable offer for previously looked after children through building links with 
agencies and teams and raising the profile of this cohort in schools. We have ensured that 
other teams within the authority are aware of the priority admission for these children and have 
briefed social care managers about effective use of PP+. Support for schools has ranged from 
advising on staff training to supporting with the effective use of PP+ and how to report it. 
Support for parents and carers has been on an individual basis to respond to queries and 
requests for support to ensure their child is accessing the right support for their needs. We 
have had a significant amount of contact from families and schools seeking advice around the 
use of PP+ funding, access to support and mental health services, the use of adoption support 
funding, academic support and becoming attachment and trauma aware. 

4.2  How many previously looked after children of statutory school age are 
there? 
According to the January Census 2019, there are currently 542 previously looked after children 
on roll in Durham schools (maintained).  

The breakdown is: 

                                                            
6  Sec 31 Extension of the Role of Virtual School Heads to Certain Previously Looked after Children 
Implementation Grant Determination Letter 2018-19 [GR1000509] [No. 31/3353] 

Page 113



18 | P a g e  
 

Page | 18  
 

 Ceased to be looked after through: 

305 Adoption  

178 Special Guardianship Order 

  59 Child arrangements / Residence Order  

 
Not all adoptive parents want schools to record the status of their children, so these figures 
reflect those who have shared the information. The data is from the census for maintained 
schools. An additional 171 previously looked after children are on the roll of academies in 
Durham.  

Whilst these children are not on the roll of Durham Virtual School and we do not monitor the 
progress of individual children, this extends the reach and remit of our support and advice for 
those of statutory school age to over 1000 children and young people.  

5. Achievement and Progress 
At Durham Virtual School we use FFT targets to measure how well our children achieve 
against their previous attainment. We use series 50 to account for the disruption many children 
in care have faced. However, we are looking to use series 50 as a minimum target and series 
20 as a more aspirational one from 2020. As our cohorts are small and vary in terms of their 
profile from year to year it is difficult to measure trends. The following summaries consider 
national expectations at EY/KS1/2 and GCSE outcomes at KS4 against their peers nationally 
and regionally, against the whole Durham cohort and against their targets.  

5.1  How well do our children achieve in Early Years?  
There were 18 children in the reporting cohort for 2018/19. 10 of these were in Durham schools 
and settings.  

Provisional EYFS Profile data for 2018 notes that 22.2% of Durham’s children who were 
looked after achieved a Good Level of Development (GLD) compared to 47% regionally and 
38% nationally.  This is significantly lower than Durham’s previous performance (60%).  There 
were 18 Children in the reporting cohort for 2018/19, although only 16 children were entered. 
One child was not entered for their EYFSP and will repeat their reception year whilst the other 
child had delayed entry into reception remaining in nursery education.  4 children achieved 
GLD with 1 child exceeding across the prime areas.  Of the remaining 12 children - 9 had 
SEND, including 2 children with EHCPs and the further 3 children’s outcomes reflected their 
very low on entry data with all 3 children changing placement and moving out of county within 
their reception year. 

5.2  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 1? 
With 29 children in the reporting cohort, this is almost double the number in 2018. There were 
41 children in care at the time of the tests: 

• 5 children were supported by an EHCP and 4 of these attended special schools, 8 
more had identified SEN support plans.  5 of the 13 children with identified needs were 
working at P scales 1 and 2. Overall 38% had an identified need. 

Page 114



19 | P a g e  
 

Page | 19  
 

• 26 of the 29 children attended a good or outstanding school (89.6% of the cohort). 
Those not in these schools were well supported to make progress.  

• 13 girls and 16 boys in the reporting cohort.   

• 5 children continue to work at P scales 

• 10 children, 6 girls and 4 boys achieved EXS+ across the board  

• 5 children (17.2%) achieved greater depth at each measure, with 3 boys and 1 girl 
achieving this across RWM.  

Table 5: Reporting cohort KS1 29 children 

 
15 children (51.2%) also achieved EXS in Science compared to 40% in 2018. The gap with all 
Durham children continues to be too wide with a 31% gap in reading. In writing and maths, it 
is still too wide but is now reducing.  
We are working very closely with Durham Learning Resources to explore ways of supporting 
reading more effectively with foster carers and schools to promote both a love of reading and 
comprehension. We launched our Curious Kids book packs in February and have had good 
feedback. A training session for carers was very well attended and very well received but is 
not yet making a difference at KS1. We are developing this further with the expertise of our 
EYFS colleagues in 2019-20.  

5.3  What does the phonics data tell us? 
Proportion of CLA meeting the standard by end of Y1 in 2019: 

In 2019 the proportion of Durham CLA meeting the standard was 50%: this is below the 
provisional 2019 NCER national average (64%) and the DFE region for the north east (68%).  
The size and needs / circumstances of the cohort means I is difficult to identify trends.  

Proportion of CLA meeting the standard by end of Y2 in 2019: 

In 2019 the proportion of CLA meeting the phonics standard increased by 3.7%age points to 
71.4% The proportion of CLA meeting the standard increased from below in 2018 (-3.3%) to 

45%

38%
41%

35%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

 Reading  Writing  Maths  R/W/M

KS1 % Expected Standards or Better 2017-19 

Durham CLA 2017 Durham CLA 2018 Durham CLA 2019 FFT Target 2019 National CLA 2018

Page 115



20 | P a g e  
 

Page | 20  
 

o.4, expected to be above the national average for 2019. This is a positive picture, but with a 
small cohort.  

5.4  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 2? 
The reporting cohort at KS2 was 41; there were 55 children in care at the time of the tests.   

• 21 boys and 20 girls in the reporting cohort.  

• 6 children supported by EHCPs and a further 10 have SEND support plans. Overall 
39% have an identified need.  

Table 5:  Reporting Cohort KS2 

 
Having identified reading as a focus following the 2018 outcomes, we are delighted to report 
a 21% increase this year and with a positive progress score.  Whilst this cannot be attributed 
to one strategy, we believe the combination of making this high profile with carers, schools 
and education development partners, launching the Curious Kids project with both fiction and 
non-fiction books, and delivering training have all contributed. This outcome bucks the 
emerging national trend of a dip in reading for all children which was also seen across Durham 
schools. Maths has also increased significantly (+22%). 22 children achieved EXS+ across 
RWM. 3 children achieved higher/ greater depth standard at RWM which is 7.3% against a 
Durham average for all children of 10% and is likely to be above the national average for the 
cohort of children in care. This cohort was consistently above FFT series 50 targets and 
therefore we will look at adding FFT 20 for future analysis. 

63% 61% 63% 61%
54%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

 Reading Writing  Maths GPS  R/W/M

KS2 % Expected Standards or Better 2017-19 

Durham CLA  2017 Durham CLA 2018 Duram CLA 2019 FFT Target National  2018

Page 116



21 | P a g e  
 

Page | 21  
 

Table 6: Reporting Cohort Gender Gap at KS2 

   
The gender gap in reading in favour of girls is mirrored in maths but in favour of boys. Both 
boys and girls have improved significantly across the board and emerging data suggests both 
will be above the national averages for the cohort. For girls in reading there is just 6% between 
the whole Durham cohort and the CLA cohort and for boys there is just 9% difference in maths. 
We will explore the reasons for the gender gaps. 

 

Table 7: Reporting Cohort SEND 

  
 
Our children with Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) achieve better than the same 
cohort nationally. Those without SEND achieve significantly better, but those on SEND support 
plans are below their peers nationally at all measures. This will be an area to highlight with 
headteachers and LA leadership advisers for 2019-20 

 

 

55% 55% 60%
70%

50%

71% 67% 62% 57% 57%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

Reading Writing GPS Maths RWM

Expected Standards Gender Split KS2

Durham LAC Boys Durham LAC Girls

40%

20% 20% 20%
31% 31% 31%

46%

91% 91% 91% 86%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Reading Writing GPS Maths

Expected Standards SEND KS2

EHCP SEN Support No SEN

Page 117



22 | P a g e  
 

Page | 22  
 

5.5  How much progress did our children make between KS1 and KS2?  
Durham children in care started from a higher KS1 average point score than their peers 
nationally and regionally.   

• Reading was positive at plus 0.25 against a negative score for all Durham children. 

• Writing was negative at minus 0.69. 

• Maths was negative at minus 0.51 

Whilst writing and maths are disappointing, we believe they may be better than the national 
average based on emerging data.  Given the size of the cohort, confidence intervals need to 
be considered.  

5.6  How well do our young people achieve in English and Maths KS4 
There were 56 young people in the reporting cohort with a full cohort of 64.  

• 54% boys and 46% girls 

• 26 pupils with identified need, 46% of year group.  

• 14 of these with an EHCP, 25% of year group, a reduction of 14% from 2018. 

• 42 were on the roll of a mainstream school and 14 (25%) of the year group attended a 
specialist school or setting or secure provision.  A small minority attended alternative 
provision in year 11. 

• A small number of our young people who had targets of 4+ were not able to take GCSE 
exams due to their circumstances.  

 

Table 8: KS4 English, Maths and Basics Outcomes 
 

 
 
We are delighted to report further improvement from 2018, with a positive 3-year trend at most 
measures. At English 9-4 results showed a slight dip (3%, equivalent to 2 pupils). This followed 
a 17% increase the previous year.  The 3-year increase at 9-5 is a result of targeting higher 

41%

27%
30%

13%

25%

9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Grade   9-4 Eng  Grade 9-5 Eng Grade  9-4 Ma Grade 9-5 Ma  Grade 9-4 EM Grade 9-5 EM

KS4 % English, Maths, basics 2017-19

Durham CLA 2017 Durham CLA 2018 Durham CLA 2019 FFT Target 2019 National 2018

Page 118



23 | P a g e  
 

Page | 23  
 

grades and instilling higher expectations.  This year our young people deserve congratulations 
for achieving 4 grade 7s and 1 grade 9 between them in English and Maths.  

Outcomes continue to be below FFT targets (50 series), but this is a national trend. We shared 
our concerns about 2018 maths outcomes with schools and provided maths tutors for many 
of the cohort and we are pleased that this subject shows signs of improvement. We were able 
to offer tutoring in a range of subjects this year, held revision session and worked with 
therapeutic services for those young people who were very anxious about exams. 4 young 
people with identified needs achieved grade 4+ in English, 5 achieved this in maths, 3 
achieved both, a real achievement.  There are still gaps with all Durham children, but we 
expect these results to be above the national averages for children in care. 

Table 9: Gender Breakdown at KS4 
 

 
The gender gap noted in KS2 (girls outperform boys in reading and writing, boys outperform 
in maths) followed through into KS4. However more girls matched both maths and English. 
We continue to try to support schools to ensure more young people can achieve at least a 
level 4 in both English and maths. 

5.7  How well do our young people achieve across all subjects (A8 and P8)?  
The A8 score for the reporting cohort increased again in 2019, rising from 23.2 in 2018 to 24.2 
in 2019.  We are very aware that our looked after young people are more likely to achieve 
GCSE grades at mainstream school. However, special or alternative provision was the 
appropriate provision to meet the needs of these students during KS4 who made some 
progress from their starting points but did not achieve in line with FFT expectations.   

The gap with all Durham young people is reducing for the basics measure, particularly at 
grades 9-4. However, we are concerned that some of our looked after young people did not 
achieve L2 qualifications, despite strong KS2 results and this is an area for development. 

The 2019 progress 8 (P8) score for Durham children in care is expected to be slightly lower 
than last year. 

5.8  How well do our young people achieve and participate at KS5 / post 16? 
In the last academic year 2 young people in year 13 successfully completed A level or 
equivalent courses. Both got strong results with one going on to study aerospace engineering 

33%

17%

33%

13%

23%

7%

50%

38%

27%

12%

27%

12%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

9-4 Eng 9-5 Eng 9-4 Maths 9-5Maths 9-4 Basics 9-5 Basics

% KS4 English, Maths, Basics Gender

Boys Girls

Page 119



24 | P a g e  
 

Page | 24  
 

at university. The other YP wants to resit one A level to improve her grade to secure the 
university course she wants 

In 2017, there were 4,272 Year 11 school leavers.  5 of these young people were identified) 
as CLA or Care Leavers 

Our Teenagers to Work programme supports young people to complete some work 
experience during the summer, Easter and October breaks. In the academic year 2018- 2019, 
we provided out young people with 123 opportunities. Some young people took up more than 
one opportunity.  They have engaged in a wide range of businesses and organisations. We 
have also seen an increase in works experience opportunities available within our own council 
4 care leavers were successful in securing apprenticeships in the launch 1 ring fenced 
traineeships with Clean and Green 

5.9  What were the destinations for our young people? 

Table 11: Destinations post 16 2018 

Destination No of 2018 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

% of 2018 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

No of 2018 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

% of 2018 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

Total Participation in Learning 
(including custodial sentence) 

4586 94.4 55 82.1 

Re-engagement 18 0.4 3 4.5 

Temporary Break in Learning 17 0.3 0 0 

Employment without training 34 0.7 1 1.5 

NEET Total 125 2.6 4 6.0 

Other including destination not 
known 

80 1.6 4 6.0 

 

Table 12: Destinations post 16 2017 

Destination No of 2017 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

% of 2017 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

No of 2017 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

% of 2017 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

Total Participation in Learning 
(including custodial sentence) 

4513 94.2 42 82.4 

Re-engagement 32 0.7 0 0.0 

Temporary Break in Learning 21 0.4 <5 2.0 

Employment without training 45 0.9 0 0.0 

NEET Total 140 2.9 7 13.7 

Other including destination not 
known 

41 0.9 <5 2.0 

Table 13  Destinations post 16 2016 

Destination No of 2016 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

% of 2016 Year 
11 School 
Leavers 

No of 2016 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

% of 2016 Year 
11 School 
Leavers CLA/CL 

Page 120



25 | P a g e  
 

Page | 25  
 

Total Participation in Learning 
(including custodial sentence) 

4930 95.7 56 88.9 

Re-engagement 20 0.4 0 0.0 

Temporary Break in Learning 16 0.3 <5 1.6 

Employment without training 37 0.7 <5 1.6 

NEET Total 126 2.4 <5 6.3 

Other including destination not 
known 

24 0.5 <5 1.6 

5.10  How do we support our young people to ensure they participate in EET? 
The following table shows the proportion of Children in care and Care Leavers aged 16-18 
who are: Participating in Learning, Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), and 
whose current destination is Not Known – compared to the rest of the 16-18 cohort. This data 
relates to the period between December and February, when the cohort of young people is 
considered to be at its most stable. It is worth noting that the cohort size for certain groups of 
identified young people e.g. Children in care, Care Leavers etc. are small, which can have a 
disproportionate impact on percentages. 

Table 13:   2015 –18 Participation in EET of Children Looked After / Care 
Leavers aged 16 + 

 December 2015 
% 

December 2016 
% 

December 2017 
%  

December 2018 
% 

Education 39.9 43.4 46.1 49.8 

Employment  7.4 13.1 11.6 15.2 

Training 5.5 5.6 5.0 5.7 

Re-engagement 
Activities 

0.7 4.4 2.5 0.9 

Total EET 53.5 66.5 65.1 71.6 

NEET 36.2 28.7 27.4 25.6 

Not Known 9.9 1.2 5.8 1.9 

Combined 
NEET and Not 
Known 

46.1 29.9 33.2 27.5 

 
Care Leavers receive additional support to enable them to progress into education, 
employment or training through DurhamWorks. This is a European funded, Durham County 
Council led partnership programme to support young people aged 16-24 who are not in 
education, employment or training (NEET). All Care Leavers have access to a specialist 
Progression Adviser who provides on-going information, advice, guidance and support. There 
are also bespoke activities available to motivate young people and to develop their skills for 
employment.  

DurhamWorks has a specific focus on engaging with employers to develop a range of 
opportunities for young people, including Care Leavers, from work experience placements 
through to paid employment. As part of the offer to employers, there is a DurhamWorks Grant, 

Page 121



26 | P a g e  
 

Page | 26  
 

which provides financial support to small and medium sized enterprises to enable them to 
employ young people.   

County Durham Adult Learning and Skills Service delivers a range of programmes which 
support young people, including Care Leavers, to develop skills and gain qualifications to 
progress into employment.  Programmes include Apprenticeships as well as a Traineeship 
programme specially designed to meet the needs of Care Leavers. The Service is also 
developing a Supported Internship programme for young people, including Care Leavers, who 
have Special Educational Needs. 

Since the commencement of DurhamWorks, 520 young people who have been supported by 
the programme have identified themselves as Looked After or a Care Leaver. Of these 181 
have completed the programme, with 154 progressing into education, employment and 
training destination – a progression rate of 85.1%. have engaged with the programme.  

5.11  How well do our young people achieve and participate in Higher 
Education?  
Encouraging and supporting more Care Leavers to progress into higher education is a key 
ambition of Durham County Council, to enable them to fulfil their potential and to have the 
opportunity to access graduate level career opportunities. There are currently 17 Care Leavers 
within higher education and 3 Care Leavers due to commence university from September 
2019. 4 Care Leavers have recently graduated. Whilst at university, Care Leavers receive 
ongoing support from a designated Young People’s Service support worker. Durham County 
Council also has links with the North East Raising Aspirations Partnership to raise awareness 
of higher education and support available to Care Leavers, through its ‘Choices Together’ 
Programme. Regional Higher Education Institutions are also represented on the multi-
partnership group referred to above. 

Page 122



27 | P a g e  
 

Page | 27  
 

5.12  How did we make a difference for care leavers?  

6. Attendance and Exclusion 
6.1  How well do our young people attend school?  
Attendance continues to be a strength of the virtual school. The slight increase in absence 
and persistent absence is in line with the national and local trend. However, we are monitoring 
this closely to ensure it does not increase further.  The LAIT7 2019 indicates that overall 
absence is lower than the national average placing us in the top quartile. We are in the second 
quartile for persistent absence. 

Our own data for 2 terms 2019 shows that overall absence will be static at approximately 3%. 

The strong attendance of our young people is testament to the work of the DVS casework 
team who maintain regular contact with both schools and carers and also to our schools who 
recognise the importance of attendance for children in care and young people and seek to 
engage them and meet their needs.  

                                                            
7 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 

B is 20 years old and initially engaged in DurhamWorks in October 2016.   At the time B was referred by her Social 
Worker as she had previously been attending college to study Health and Social Care but had left after 6 months 
due to her unstable home life.  

B lacked confidence in her own abilities and often felt anxious about meeting new people and in new situations. 
Despite her difficult home life, B achieved good GCSE’s and the initial focus for support was developing a CV, 
ordering a birth certificate and collecting certificates from school.  B often didn’t attend arranged appointments 
which made progress problematic.  

In March 2017, B began to commit to fully with DurhamWork and B was supported to gain an Apprenticeship in 
Customer Service in a local cake shop.  B kept in touch with her DurhamWorks Advisor during this period who 
was delighted when, in March 2018, B successfully completed her Apprenticeship and obtained a permanent 
position in the cake shop. 

In October 2018, B achieved an award for the great progress she had made. However, when B met up with her 
Advisor again in 2019 it was clear B wasn’t happy in her role and had started to look for an alternative.  

B continue to engage with her DurhamWorks Advisor and was informed of Apprenticeship opportunities that 
came available in Durham County Council.  B was supported to complete her application form and with interview 
preparation.  B was successful in gaining the Apprenticeship and will commence in September 2019. 

Page 123



28 | P a g e  
 

Page | 28  
 

Table 14:  Absence rates for children in care 2018 (most recent whole year 
data) 

 

Tables 15/16 Absence Trends for children in care 2016-18 

 

 

3.2

1.3

4.5

10.6

2.9

1.3

4.1

9.5

2.3
1

3.1

6.9

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Auth_abs_% Unauth_abs_% Overall_abs_% Persist_abs_%

Absence Comparison 2018

ENGLAND NORTH EAST County Durham

10.60%
9.50%

6.90%

0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%

10.0%
12.0%

National LAC North East LAC Durham LAC

Persistent Absence Trend

Persistent Absence 2015-16 Persistent Absence 2016-17 Persistent Absence 2017-18

2.70% 3.10% 3.10%

0.00%
1.00%
2.00%
3.00%
4.00%
5.00%

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

Overall Absence

Overall Absence

National LAC North East LAC Durham LAC

Page 124



29 | P a g e  
 

Page | 29  
 

6.2  How many of our young people have been excluded? 
There have been no permanent exclusions since 2014. The casework team work closely with 
schools to prevent any issues reaching crisis point and explore appropriate alternative 
pathways better suited to meeting the need of the young person. We challenge any schools 
which consider permanent exclusion, and then implement appropriate support, using Pupil 
Premium Plus (PP+) funding to avoid this.  

Fixed term exclusions increased in 20178, the last year for which we have validated data.  
Whilst this is reflected in a national increase, we are concerned that the rate has risen faster 
in Durham. However, we remain in the second quartile nationally9. We are working closely 
with schools to address this. We have also allocated funding to the four behaviour panels 
across the county to support a locality-based approach to inclusion for children in care. We 
now ask schools to contact the virtual school team before implementing an FTE to discuss 
alternative approaches.  

Table 17:  Fixed term Exclusions 

 
We provide a support package at our Inclusion Base for those young people where a fixed 
term exclusion is unavoidable and where it could put pressure on the home placement. We 
also offer this to some schools to relieve some pressure, before a crisis point is reached, to 
give them some time to plan more appropriately for a young person’s needs.  

Updated analysis of Durham schools suggests that this is having an impact overall. This refers 
to the cohort of children in care on roll at the spring census in 201819 and compares like for 
like over 3 years. There is a very significant drop in fixed term exclusion from special schools 
following our collaborative approach over the last 2 years. The increase at secondary has 
been a priority for us over the last term.  

The VSH is working is part of the group commissioning ISOS to carry out a review of 
exclusion and alternative provision within the county. The final workshop takes place 
with schools in September 2019, and will inform both strategy and commissioning 

                                                            
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/outcomes-for-children-looked-after-by-las-31-march-2018 
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-interactive-tool-lait 

11.80%
10.36% 11.14%

0.00%

2.00%

4.00%

6.00%

8.00%

10.00%

12.00%

14.00%

ENGLAND NORTH EAST DURHAM

Chart Title

2015 FTE % 2016 FTE % 2017 FTE %

Page 125



30 | P a g e  
 

Page | 30  
 

going forward, underpinned by the findings of the Timpson Review. The VSH has 
shared the key messages from The Timpson report with the casework team.  

 
 

7. Admissions, transitions, managed moves and OOC 
placements 

We work hard to meet our statutory duty to avoid any ‘drift and delay’ 10 in securing full-time 
education which meets the needs of the child. It remains a challenge to secure mid-year 
admissions, particularly to secondary schools. We consult closely with headteachers to ensure 
the best provision. We do place children and young people in schools which are judged to 
require improvement, where the provision offered meets the need of the child and we believe 
that it offers them the best chance of a settled education where they can make good progress. 
The casework team provide enhanced transition for the most vulnerable children and young 
people at key points. This will be enhanced following the restructure with the focus of the new 
team on seamless transition from 0-25. 

7.1  How many children moved school mid-year? 
In 2018-19, 55 children and young people moved mid-year. We aim to ensure moves take 
place at the end of an academic year, but there are occasions where a move mid-year is 
beneficial. Working with the care teams, we supported moves which: 

• were as a result of statutory assessment 

• supported the long-term care pathway for permanence  

• for safeguarding reasons 

• enhanced the experience of the child within the family unit – attending school with 
others from the family 

                                                            
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children 
 

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

18.0%

20.0%

16/17 17/18 18/19

CLA excluded per 100 CLA on roll in census 

Primary Schools

Secondary Schools

Specials

Overall

Page 126

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children


31 | P a g e  
 

Page | 31  
 

• enabled them to feel part of the local community – developing relationships with peers 
in their locality 

• avoided trauma which could have resulted from attending a school with siblings still 
with birth parents or near birth parents 

• provided an opportunity to develop friendships prior to KS2/3 transition. 

7.2  How many of our children experienced managed moves? 
We do not routinely support managed moves for children in care, however, there have been 
some occasions where we have sanctioned this, based on the specific needs of the child. For 
example, where a child had experienced significant trauma and was unable to continue to 
attend their present school we worked with social workers and a school in the community they 
had moved to and provided additional funding to enable an effective managed move until a 
placement     It was not possible to return to their present school.  As a result, the Virtual 
School worked with Social Workers and a school in the community in which they were now 
living.  The Virtual School made available additional Pupil Premium Plus to enable gaps in 
learning to be addressed.   

7.3  How many of our children are placed in out of county education settings?  
70 (14%) of the school age cohort (512 children and young people  ) were educated out of 
county in 2018-19.  

8. Personal Education Plans (PEP), (PP+) and Academic 
Progress 

8.1  How does the virtual school ensure the quality of the PEPS? 
In 2016 it was decided to move greater responsibility for ensuring the completion of the PEP 
to schools which are best placed to have an in-depth knowledge of the young person alongside 
the social worker. For 2016-17, virtual school caseworkers worked alongside schools to 
ensure they quality of these PEPS and a quality assurance process was implemented. This 
has been adjusted to match changes to the structure of the casework team.  

We have monitored this over the last 2 years and found that, after the restructure within the 
Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Groups Service, standardisation was more difficult within 
a much larger and wider team. Following an in-depth review, we have worked with the Head 
of Service to refocus the remit of some caseworkers. With each cluster now having a dedicated 
virtual school worker advocating for the education  of children in care, the implementation of 
an e-pep system through Welfare Call and the introduction of logging the completion of PEPs 
on Liquid Logic, we have been able to tighten procedure. We are confident this will enable 
swifter QA and, consequently, faster and more robust challenge to schools and settings where 
needed. We will embed this for statutory school age and then roll out to EYFS and Post 16.  

We have identified early years and post 16 PEPs as an area for improvement and we are 
working closely with these teams to streamline practice and embed quality assurance. Our 
Early Years team has produced a PEP which better matches the phase and they now lead on 
the quality assurance. This ensures a level of expertise appropriate to these schools and 
settings. 

Page 127



32 | P a g e  
 

Page | 32  
 

8.2  What information does the PEP record? 
The PEP is a live, working document which provides a record of the young person’s journey 
through education. We have recently reviewed the effectiveness of the document for this and 
asked for the views of young people through the Children in Care Council (CiCC) who 
contributed their ideas to the new e-pep. We stress with schools that the PEP document is a 
snapshot, it is the implementation of the actions which make a difference.  

8.3  What is the quality of the PEPs? 
The PEP completion rate, (for young people of statutory school age, initial and new to care) 
for 2018-19 was 87%. Following chasing by the VS this increased to over 95%. As of May 
2019 the quality of initial (Autumn Term) and new to care PEPs showed an improvement as a 
result some robust follow up by the virtual school head and team.   

However, we know the quality is still not high enough or of sufficient consistency. We believe 
the introduction of an e-pep along with new and more robust QA procedures with 
standardisation carried out by smaller and more focused team, will make a difference. Our 
caseworkers will continue to challenge schools and share best practice to help them to 
improve the quality.  

Training on the e-pep has taken place early September for designated teachers and we will 
provide bespoke training for social workers and carers as a follow up.  

Whilst the numbers suggest this is an area for further improvement, the outcomes for children 
in care and young people indicate that the quality of educational provision for our children and 
young people is strong.  

Table 18: Quality of PEPs Statutory School Age 2018-19 
 

 
 
During the autumn term 2018-19 we challenged schools which submitted PEPs late or below 
our expectations. We tackled the reduction in social worker involvement through team 
managers and briefings and provided further training to new designated teachers.  The impact 
was an increase in social workers attendance or contribution. 

71% 78%

21% 23%

96% 97%93% 94%83% 87%

0%

50%

100%

150%

2017-18 2018-19

Trends in PEP Quality

%PEP high quality or above % PEP elements of best practice
% Child / young person contribution %Carer contribution
Social Worker contribution

Page 128



33 | P a g e  
 

Page | 33  
 

We have advised schools to ensure that social and emotional wellbeing needs are recorded 
in the PEP alongside academic needs and we have incorporated this into our new template 
for the e-pep.  

The quality of post 16 PEPs had not previously been recorded by the virtual school. Baseline 
data for 2018-19 shows this must be a priority and we are working closely with the Young 
People’s team to improve systems, processes, completion and quality assurance.  In 2018 
67% of those quality assured were considered to be of high quality. 94% of young people and 
social workers contributed, but only 66% of parent / carers.  

8.4  How do we distribute pupil premium plus funding?  
Durham Virtual School (DVS) publishes guidance for schools on the distribution of PP+. We 
adjusted our distribution for 2018-19 so that the funding is available without undue 
bureaucracy when a child enters care and to aid forward planning for schools. We now allocate 
£600 for the spring and autumn terms and £500 for the summer term. In line with the DfE 
guidance of Feb 201811, we have encouraged schools to look at evidenced practice and to 
consider how the funding can support the cohort of looked after and previously children in care 
as well provide individual intervention.  Schools account for this on the yearly funding resource 
plan and identify where PP+ will support intervention on the PEP.   

School leaders across the county were consulted through the Durham Association of both 
Primary and Secondary Headteachers (DAPH and DASH) support the retention of some of 
the PP+ to fund additional centrally managed support.  For the financial year 2017-18 DVS 
retained £300 per child centrally. For 2018-19 we retained £600 from the increased funding 
and this will continue for 2019-20. 

8.5  What is the centrally held budget spent on? 
In 2018-19 Durham Virtual School retained approx.  £ 392,000 

This funding was used to provide the following centrally managed provision for Durham 
children in care: 

• Additional senior EP capacity for children in care 

• Speech and Language therapeutic support 

• Occupational Health support 

• School Counsellor support for children in care – additional capacity to full time 
equivalent 

• Supporting the development of the designated teacher role 

• Curious Kids launch – reading packages for year 2 – 6 and training for carers 

• Storytime magazine subscription to promote a love of stories for reception and year 
one children 

                                                            
11 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683556/
Promoting_the_education_of_looked-after_children_and_previously_looked-after_children.pdf 
 

Page 129

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683556/Promoting_the_education_of_looked-after_children_and_previously_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683556/Promoting_the_education_of_looked-after_children_and_previously_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683556/Promoting_the_education_of_looked-after_children_and_previously_looked-after_children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/683556/Promoting_the_education_of_looked-after_children_and_previously_looked-after_children.pdf


34 | P a g e  
 

Page | 34  
 

• Additional resources to the 5 location-based inclusion panels (previously behaviour 
support panels) to encourage locality and school-based solutions to avoid exclusion or 
school moves. This also provides additional access to the EWEL (Emotional Wellbeing 
and Effective Learning Team) This was very new in the spring term 2019 and will be 
reviewed for impact at Christmas 2019. Initial anecdotal feedback is positive.  

• Recruitment of a Full Circle Therapeutic Social Worker attached to the virtual school 
for one year – this is in process for the autumn term 2019 and is in response to requests 
from schools for additional support for emotional wellbeing and readiness to learn. 

• Targeted resources / materials for identified children 

• Alternative provision / curriculum for children in care at risk of disengaging from 
learning 

• 1:1 curriculum support for year 6 and 11 

• Turnaround / outreach places secured with The Bridge (secondary) and The Beeches 
/ Willows (primary) teams to provide short term placements during a period of crisis at 
school.  

• Off-site inclusion support for KS3 and KS4 children at risk from exclusion is supported 
by maintained schools de-delegated funding.  

Table 19: How we spent the retained PP+ 
 

 
 
The importance of schools recognising and understanding the impact of insecure attachment 
and early trauma on the behaviour and progress of young people is well documented12. 
Children and young people who experience toxic stress, emotional turmoil and insecurity will 
not be ready to learn and are more likely to be excluded from school. This has continued to 
be a driver in 2019-20 as we increase the allocation of retained funding to inclusion and 

                                                            
12 Amongst other: Attachment in the Classroom Heather Geddes 2006; The Attachment Aware School Series 
Louise Bomber 2016;  

14%

18%
16% 15%

37%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Theraputic Support KS4 Inclusion
Support

KS1 and KS3
Inclusion Support

Academic Support Individual Support

2018-19 Use of Centrally Managed Support

Page 130



35 | P a g e  
 

Page | 35  
 

therapeutic support. We are trialling an app for teachers to help them quickly assess 
behaviours through a trauma and attachment lens and access strategies to help them manage 
this and we have provided The Attachment Aware Series for all secondary schools. 

We also provided additional resources to schools for books, reading materials, programmes 
and we allocated funding to each inclusion panel (4 secondary, 1 primary) to promote inclusion 
and support appropriate pathways within the geographical location.  

8.6  What academic support and intervention do we provide from central 
funding?  
We offer twilight and holiday sessions for young people to support them to fill gaps in 
knowledge or build confidence. In addition, we provided 1061 hours of direct support. Every 
child in year 6 and 11 is entitled to five sessions of tutoring at no cost to the school. Last 
academic year we supported 103 young people individually and provided 8 small group 
interventions. The impact is evident in the outcomes. In addition, 26 young people accessed 
our Inclusion Base over the year, to avoid an exclusion, to give some space in a more nurturing 
environment during times of crisis or to offer support for emotional wellbeing. 65% of them 
made a successful reintegration to their schools. 588 half days of inclusion support was 
provided ranging from just 2 or 3 days to longer term provision three days a week which 
included preparation for GCSE examinations.  We also provided this for four out of county 
children in care. We also commission three places at The Bridge turnaround base which is 
part of The Woodlands, nine pupils accessed this in 2018-19.  

8.7  What therapeutic support do we provide from central funding? 
We offer access to SALT, Occupational Therapy, Counselling and additional Educational 
Psychology Time. The EP has been involved with approximately 50 young people in the last 
academic year, some directly and some through advice and support. She has provided 
consultation, training, individual assessment and follow up, input to PEP reviews and LAR. 
This work has also supported children living out of county and children in the care of other 
authorities but living in Durham.  This work is highly valued by schools and carers as it provides 
expert input more quickly and effectively.  

Our counselling provision has supported 30 children in 2018-19, mostly at primary level. This 
has been particularly effective for children and young people at times of transition.  The team 
receive very positive feedback from children and carers.  

We also work closely with Full Circle to ensure a joined-up approach to the emotional and 
mental wellbeing of our children and young people.  

8.8  How do schools spend their allocation?  
In 2018-19 our total PP+ budget was £1,419,648.   Schools were allocated £1,700 of the 
government allocation of £2,300 in 3 instalments.  In total, approximately £1,028, 503 was 
provided to schools to support their work with children in care.  One to one support is used 
effectively by schools to help to close the gaps in knowledge caused by school moves and 
poor attendance prior to entering care. Pastoral support for the looked after cohort includes 
additional staffing to provide mentoring and advocacy, a safe space, someone to check 
readiness to learn etc.  

Page 131



36 | P a g e  
 

Page | 36  
 

Table 20: How schools spent their PP+ budget 
 

 
 

9. Training Provision 
Training is one of our core duties and one which we believe can make a real difference to the 
lives of looked after young people. We provide (without charge) training for social workers, 
IROs, foster carers, designated teachers and governors as well as for the full education 
improvement team. Our governor training encourages governors to review policies with 
designated teachers and equips them to provide appropriate challenge around outcomes for 
children in care.  

We also run designated teacher networks. The training is well attended and well-received. We 
contribute to the Director’s briefings for schools, service days for the education team and team 
business days. Updates and other information are disseminated through briefing papers and 
we provide bespoke support and advice for schools. At the request of designated teachers, 
we now seek to bring an external speaker to network events. The best attended session and 
best received session of 2018-19 was led by Maria Catterick from FASD Network UK. 13 This 
drew in representatives from early years settings, schools, academies and post 16 providers 
and demonstrated the desire of our educational setting to know more and respond better.  

Within the team we share resources, research and best practice at our development days. 
Our virtual school team have expertise in supporting children in care and have accessed a 
wide range of training.  

 
From September 2018 we have started to develop attachment awareness in secondary school 
so that they can review policies and develop an ethos which understands and includes some 
of the most vulnerable and challenging young people. To support this, we distributed The 
Attachment Aware School Series by Louise Bomber to every secondary school attending a 
training session in the Autumn Term. We are linking with the Educational Psychology Team 
                                                            
13 http://www.fasdnetwork.org/ 

Cohort 
Support, 

34.5%

Individual 
Support, 

51.4%

School 
Development, 

14.1%

2018-19 - School Use of PP+

Cohort Support Individual Support School Development

Page 132



37 | P a g e  
 

Page | 37  
 

as they work with Kate Cairns Associates to encourage attachment aware schools. From 2019 
we will develop a more cohesive plan led by two of the team managers.  

10. Support for mental and emotional wellbeing 
We are very aware that research on attachment and trauma indicates that learning can only 
happen when a child feels safe, secure and regulated, with children in care four times more 
likely to have a mental health disorder than those with their birth families. Many children in 
care will have experienced a number of childhood experiences (ACES) and, as corporate 
parents, we have a duty to alleviate the long –term impact of these on learning, health, life 
chances, but without this simply becoming another label. Colleagues in education, SEND and 
Inclusion and Early Help are exploring how to develop this understanding to support schools. 
Our therapeutic provision described above supports schools to be able to understand the 
context of our young people and support the children directly to be able to feel safe and 
succeed.  

10.1  What screening takes place?  
The VSH has been involved in a task and finish group to review the SDQ practice in Durham 
and develop new practice guidance to improve participation and return and to implement 
triangulation of the scores. This came into practice in July 2019 and it is too early to measure 
the impact within schools. Schools have been informed and this will be reviewed on a regular 
basis. There is a clear process for referral to Full Circle for those with high scores and 
improved processes for sharing this information schools to help them plan.  

10.2  How does our Educational Psychologist make a difference?  
The EP for the Virtual School (0.5 full time equivalent) was involved with just short of 50 young 
people between September 2018 and July 2019.  Consultation has also been provided to the 
Virtual School and SEND Caseworkers regarding un-named individual children, not formally 
referred. The work typically involved: 

Individual assessment with the child (incorporating observation and discussion with key 
adults) to establish or clarify the nature of their SEND, ensuring appropriate understanding 
and provision. Following assessment, appropriate further referrals or review of existing input 
have been made, ensuring that the provision is of the right kind and at the right level. 

Consultation with school staff, social workers, caseworkers and carers.  Consultation with 
school staff (teachers and support staff) involved supporting them to understand the 
presenting, often challenging behaviours within the framework of trauma and attachment and 
helping them to see that change may be slow or erratic but this does not mean that they are 
not meeting the child’s needs.  School staff are a great resource for our young people and 
much of the work of the EP involves supporting them professionally and personally. 

Training staff and other colleagues in the LA. Such training has had attachment and 
emotional wellbeing as its focus. This is increasingly pertinent as the Mental Health in Schools 
agenda develops with significant challenges for school staff in terms of curriculum and 
intervention. 

Attending PEPs, CTMs, LAR reviews and statutory annual reviews to support good 
decision making for children in care. 

Page 133



38 | P a g e  
 

Page | 38  
 

Most of the work undertaken was for Durham children in care, educated in Durham. Work has 
also been completed for non-Durham CLA attending Durham schools and Durham CLA 
educated outside Durham. Work has been across all Key Stages and in nursery and across 
mainstream and specialist provision.  The EP has also provided some support for adopted 
children. 

Impact includes: 

• Special educational needs more fully assessed to inform planning and support (PEP, 
care team, SEN Support Plan EHCP); 

• Teaching staff understanding difficult behaviour in the context of the child’s trauma and 
attachment difficulties and responding to it differently; 

• Reduced stress and increased resilience and feelings of personal efficacy in teachers 
and support staff; 

• Children who might otherwise be excluded or moved into alternative provision 
remaining in mainstream school; 

• Learning difficulties identified (where ‘behaviour’ is to the fore) to enable the child’s 
needs to be better understood and met; 

• Facilitating access to other services where there is a gap in provision identified; 

• Continuity of service where repeated changes of carer and school can lead to children 
missing out on services/’falling through the gaps’. 

Examples of impact include: 
• The extent of a child’s profound communication difficulties being fully recognised, 

services remobilised, assessments undertaken, and appropriate provision being made 
through the EHCP annual review process such that the child is now talking. 

• A secondary age pupil’s reported difficulty with processing and memory being more 
helpfully explained by reference to difficulties in understanding language including non-
literal language with implications for how she is supported. 

• A very challenging reception age child’s extreme behaviours being reframed in terms 
of his severe trauma and marked learning difficulties with implications for his curriculum 
and the approaches used allowing his continued inclusion in his local mainstream 
school where a change of placement had looked likely 

• Primary school staff reporting feeling more able to understand and meet the needs of 
their children in care after attachment aware training. 
 

10.3  How do our counsellors make a difference?  
30 children and young people accessed counselling this year with most referrals from primary 
schools. There was an almost even gender split.  

Page 134



39 | P a g e  
 

Page | 39  
 

Many of the young people referred have experienced trauma and neglect and were going 
through transitions or waiting to find out about their future living arrangements, so prevalent 
themes in the work have been in supporting these transitions and managing the feelings that 
surface in times of uncertainty.  Other presenting issues that have been around anxiety, 
exploring identity, self-esteem, anger, bereavement and loss, separation from siblings and 
peer relationships.  Many of the referrals have also included difficulties in school including 
challenging behaviour and building relationships with staff.  

Attendance has been excellent 2018-19.  

Feedback from children and young people: 
What was the best thing about counselling? 

• “Having someone who would listen to what I have to say” 

• “It helps me with my worries” 

• “Talking to someone neutral” 

• “Helps me relax” 

 
Feedback from staff and carers: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• “Xs confidence has grown so much – she has a circle of friends who really like her, 
whereas before, she would mainly play on her own” 

• “X isn’t seeking my attention anymore in class like he was before, he just seems happy 
to be part of the class” 

• “X has been working extra hard and has recently got a lot of star points.  She is 
accepting praise now for her careful work” 

• “X seems much more happy in herself and is spending more time with us downstairs 
as a family” 

0

1

2

3

4

Access by Year and Gender

Referrals Male Referrals Female

Page 135



40 | P a g e  
 

Page | 40  
 

11. Voice of the Young Person 
All children and young people have an opportunity to have their voice heard through the PEP 
process. However, young people tell us this is not always child-friendly and is often rushed in 
the busy school day. Many do not wish to attend so we have adjusted our recording to enable 
them to complete their sections at a different time. We are consulted with the Children in Care 
Council (CiCC) about the new e-pep. 

We want to extend the opportunities to hear young people and enable them to inform practice 
so in 2019-20 we will be: 

• looking to bring members of the CiCC to designated teacher training  

• working closely with newly appointed engagement officer 

• offering drop-ins for children and young people to discuss their education provision 
and experience 

• encouraging schools to listen to the children and young people and let us know what 
they like and what they want to change. 

12. Enrichment, Unleashing Aspiration and Celebration  
12.1  What do we currently offer? 
As good corporate parents we want all our care-experienced young people to have the 
opportunity to experience enrichment activities and resources which will broaden their 
horizons and show them what might be possible.  We support schools through provision of 
funding or resources to enable this, but we want to extend the provision which currently 
includes: 

• Curious Kids and Storytime for primary children (we also linked this to the summer 
activity and libraries programme in Co Durham)  

• Durham Music Service provides music lessons and instrument hire for looked after 
young people. 

• Reward trips  

• University experiences 

The CiCC also provides a range of opportunities for children and young people and our closer 
working relationship will enable us to plan some of these in partnership. 

12.2  What are we planning for 2019-20 to support enrichment?  
This is a focus for us for 2019-20 as the restructured team embeds. 

• Music event, working with Durham Service 

• Developing links with museums including a training session for carers at Beamish 

• Exploring visits to theatres / attending local events / visiting new places / university 
experiences 

• Celebration of reading event  

Page 136



41 | P a g e  
 

Page | 41  
 

12.3  How do we celebrate success? 
Care leavers’ achievements are recognised at the annual Epic Awards. There is also a 
celebration event for younger children. We have a reading celebration event planned for the 
autumn term 2019. This is an area we are developing.  

13. Summary 
In terms of educational achievement, most of our young people have made significant 
progress and achieved strong outcomes amid an improving picture.  Attainment at KS1 
remains below the national average and therefor a concern, but there is a positive trend. There 
were very strong outcomes at KS2 and KS4. Our aim continues to be to close the gap. The 
report notes that for some young people at KS4, high GCSE grades are not within reach yet, 
but we acknowledge and celebrate the enormous effort they have made to make progress in 
the face of often huge barriers to enable them to move into education and training. The 
development of monitoring questions as part of the Note of Visit for School Leadership 
Advisers to discuss with headteachers, along with a small dedicated caseworker team will 
ensure that looked after and previously children in care continue to be fully supported to 
identify and address need and PP+ is spent effectively. We acknowledge and thank those 
schools which went the extra mile to build confidence and self-esteem, for making a difference 
and providing strong foundations for next steps for our young people.  

This report highlights the strength of Durham Virtual School in supporting children in care to 
make progress and achieve. It highlights the support and challenge we offer to schools, 
settings and partners and the wide range of intervention we offer to the young people. 
Improved tracking systems are starting to enable us to do this in a timelier fashion. We are 
now starting to seek the views of young people more often and responding more effectively, 
listening to them to inform practice. With the readjustment within the recent restructure to 
create a small dedicated virtual school team to work in partnership across education, health, 
social care and early help, we are looking forward to building partnerships which will enable a 
seamless journey from 0-25.  

14. Outline Priorities for 2019-20 
• Improve KS1 outcomes towards national averages  

• Encourage more children to achieve high scores / greater depth at KS2 

• Improved progress scores for all young people 

• Improve reading / English for boys and maths for girls 

• Appropriate curriculum access / bespoke offers 

• Work in partnership to develop clear academic and vocational pathways in preparation 
for adulthood 

• Further raise awareness in secondary schools of the impact of early trauma and 
insecure attachment on behaviour and learning and support schools to review policies 
and implement change 

• Improve the quality of the PEPs. 

Page 137



42 | P a g e  
 

Page | 42  
 

• Develop, with schools, enrichment and enhancement opportunities  

• Celebrate success more effectively 

• Listen more closely to the voice of the young person and respond more flexibly 

• Contribute to an increasingly integrated and joined-up process with health and social 
care teams to provide a holistic and cohesive approach to support readiness to learn 

• Ensure the readjustment to the casework team enhances our offer for children in care 
through support and challenge for schools - no negative impact as it embeds 

• Develop and deliver on our offer for previously children in care  

 

15. Recommendation 
That this annual report is noted by members of the Corporate Parenting Panel, Virtual School 
Sub Group, Virtual School Operational group, Looked After Children Strategic Partnership 
Group and Education SMT.   

 

 

 
 

Page 138



43 | P a g e  
 

 

Appendix A 

WIDER TEAMS 

Education Durham Team 
Primary, Secondary and Special SLAs, EDAs 

o Liaison with VSH and VS team for advice, challenge and support to schools and settings to 
improve outcomes 

Wider SEND and Inclusion Team 
EPS, Equalities, EWEL teams  

o Liaison with VSH and VS team for advice, challenge and support to schools and setting to 
improve SEN provision 

o 0.5 of EP time support for schools, social workers, carers re SEMH and educational advice 
o FTE counselling support 

Social Care, Health, Youth Offending Teams, Adoption, 
Full Circle  

o Liaison with VSH and VS to provide enhanced wraparound care with a focus on stability for 
CLA and swift access to appropriate professional support 

o Attend PEP meetings 
o Support monitoring of progress and QA of PEPs 
o Full Circle liaison around support for CLA/ PCLA and carers / parents   
o Full Circle Social Worker attached to VS from Autumn 2019 

Attendance, Admissions and Casework Teams 
 

o Support VSH and schools to maintain good attendance of CLA 
o Support VSH and schools with inclusion issues around CLA 
o Support collection and analysis of data re attendance and exclusion 

Progression and Learning team / YPS o Provide Information, Advice, Guidance and Support through Specialist Progression 
Advisers to enable looked after young people to progress and remain in education, 
employment or training. 

o Provide bespoke activities and interventions to prepare looked after young people for 
engagement in education, employment or training through the DurhamWorks Programme. 

o Offer learning opportunities including Traineeships, Supported Internships and 
Apprenticeships through County Durham Adult Learning and Skills Service. 

o Provide data and monitor performance in relation to the participation of looked after YP in 
education, employment or training, utilising the CCIS Client Caseload Information System.    

Schools, Colleges and Educational Settings 
Designated Teacher  

 

o Provide, coordinate and monitor internal school support for CLA and PCLA 
o Lead on PEPs 
o Monitor and be accountable for outcomes for LA and PCLA 
o Attend review meetings  
o Organise, coordinate and monitor intervention and support 
o Keep up to date with DfE guidance, training etc 

 

P
age 139



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Fiona Callaghan

Interim Virtual School Head

Lead: Early Years Equalities and Inclusion

Durham Virtual School  

31 January 2020
1. Sub group report

2. Team changes

3. Successes 2017-18

4. Priorities 2018-19

Virtual School Annual Report 

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 11c



Sub Group report

Summary

• Attendance monitoring

• Curious Kids – literacy programme

• Data forecasts and interim findings

• Implementation of Welfare Call

• Early Years and Post 16 PEP compliance

• ILACS  - Virtual school findings and next steps

P
age 142



Staffing team changes

• Virtual Head appointment

• Melanie Stubbs will take up post in January 2020.  

Melanie is currently Assistant Head of Greenfield 

Community Arts College.

• CLA Casework

• Realignment of 4 members of the SEND and 

Inclusion team to enable CLA focus

• Appointment of Therapeutic Social WorkerP
age 143



Virtual School Support and Review

• Michael Bettencourt, independent consultant has 

been commissioned to work with the Virtual School to 

support the interim Head and review systems and 

processes.

• Many areas of practice are strong with clear 

processes and protocols, others are relatively new, 

lack documented process or are still evolving and 

need to be ‘codified’.

• Initial findings have been forwarded to Head of 

Education and Skills and the Director of Children’s 

Services

P
age 144



Success / Outcomes 2018-19
• Above FFT targets KS1/2 most measures

• Improved on 2017 outcomes KS1/2 at most measures

• Improved on 2017 outcomes KS4 at most measures

• Significant improvement in English KS4

• More young people achieved 5+ grades

• Outstanding outcomes for girls 

• No permanent exclusions since 2014 with fixed term 

exclusions remaining comparatively low

• Attendance remains strong, significantly lower than national 

and regional and persistent absence remains low

• School stability continues to  be above national average

• Increased number accessing universityP
age 145



Priorities 2019-20

• Reading at KS1/2

• Maths at all key stages

• Gender gap across the board

• Gap with all Durham children

• Progress for all through appropriate curriculum

• Stability of school placement

• Swift admission to schools

• Attachment and trauma informed schools 

P
age 146



 

             

      

 Corporate Parenting Panel 

 31 January 2020 

Independent Reviewing Officer: Looked 

After Children & Child Protection 

Annual Reports 2018/19  

 

Report of Sharon Davey, Operations Manager, Children and Young 
People’s Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Independent 
Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service’s Looked After Children Annual Report 
for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, in accordance with 
requirements within the IRO Handbook (2010) and Working Together.  

2 This report should be read alongside the Looked After Children Annual 
Report which is attached as Appendix 2. 

Executive Summary 

3 There has been an increase of demand on the service with the number 
of Children who are Looked After increase by 3%. The IRO service has 
continued to work in partnership with Children’s Services, CAFCASS 
and multi-agency partners to provide a quality of service. The service 
continues to implement a strength based approach within the child 
protection conferencing to include children and their families.  

Recommendation(s) 

4 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are recommended to: 

(a) Note the contents of the report 

 

 

 

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 12a



Background 

5 In Durham, Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) have a dual function 
of chairing looked after reviews as well as child protection conferences. 
The role of an IRO in relation to Looked After Reviews is laid down in 
statute but is not for child protection. The role of the Conference Chair is 
carried out by the IRO.  

6 The law states that all children and young people that become looked 
after must be appointed an IRO. The IRO Handbook (2010) tells IROs 
what they should be doing for children and young people who are in 
care. An IRO has an important role in making sure that children and 
young people’s care plans meet their needs. IROs are there to make 
sure that reviews are run properly; that children and young people’s 
views are listened to and their best interests are protected (Young 
People’s Guide to the IRO Handbook).   

7 The primary function of a child protection chair is to ensure that the 
statutory functions required within child protection conferences are 
delivered in a robust way, in line with Durham’s Safeguarding Children’s 
Partnership (DSCP) Child Protection Procedures. 

8 Detailed monthly and quarterly IRO reports are produced which are 
reported to Children’s Social Care throughout the year. Two annual 
reports are produced each year; one for Looked After Children and one 
for Child Protection, outlining the work undertaken in the year and areas 
for further development in coming year. 

Key Messages within the Annual Reports 

9 There has been an 3% increase in the number of children looked after 
(CLA), from 809 as at 31 March 2018 to 833 as at March 2019. This has 
however continued to increase in 2019/20 and has been consistently 
above 850, reaching almost 900 more recently, which would equate to 
an 11% increase. Looking at the longer-term trend in CLA, this has 
increased by around 50% over the last five years, when it was around 
600. With regard to the number of children on a child protection plan, 
this decreased by 19% from 496 as at 31 March 2018 to 403 as at 
March 2019. This is similar to pre-2017 levels and is currently slightly 
lower. The IRO service has needed to respond to this increased 
demand and continue to provide a robust and supportive service. 

10 When an IRO has a worry about a child or feels that the plan is not 
progressing as it should be, they have a responsibility to raise this with 
Children’s Services managers. This is done through the Dispute 
Resolution Process (DRP). The social worker will work with the IRO to 
try to resolve any differences they may have in relation to a child’s or 
young person’s plan. How disputes were resolved, and key themes are 

Page 148



highlighted in the reports. There has been a difficulty in recording any 
informal DRP’s aside with the introduction of the new recording system, 
Liquid Logic. The number of DRP Stage 1 has not been captured. This 
has since been resolved and will be reported on in the future.  

11 It is evident that IRO’s do raise disputes where they have concerns 
around children’s plans. A new additional level of oversight has been 
added of a monitoring meeting once a DRP is raised, to ensure that 
changes are made timely for children. 

12 Participation of Looked After Children remains a strength within the IRO 
Service. IROs have continued to encourage children and young people 
to engage and participate in care planning process and reviews. It is 
recognised that participation of young people within the child protection 
process requires improvements. This is a key priority for 2019/20. 

13 IROs attend the Children in Care Council meetings which provides an 
opportunity to share information and listen to the priorities of children 
looked after. The CICC have devise an IRO Profile which will be sent 
out before each meeting with detail of how to contact their IRO and 
some additional information to hep build on a working relationship 
between the IRO and the young person. The IRO Team Development 
Day included a workshop with the Investors In Children (IIC) and the 
Children In Care Council (CICC) feedback themes and areas of 
development. This has in turn been the building blocks for the service 
plan for 2019/20.  

14 The IRO Service work closely with Children and Young Peoples 
Service’s (CYPS) and feedback key messages regarding challenges 
and positive factors in relation to social work practice and progression of 
the children plans. The IRO service is now part of the monthly 
performance meeting reporting and will support in any new challenges 
for the future.  

15 The IRO service is committed to working with partners and developing 
the service. This can be seen in training courses and development 
sessions facilitated by the IROs for Children’s Services teams and 
DSCP partners around the role of the IRO and adapting a sings of 
safety approach to child protection conferencing. This training is now 
delivered by the IRO service. Work at a regional level has also taken 
place with other Local Authority IRO services, CAFCASS and NYAS. 
Each IRO has a lead for a development area within the service and will 
attend development forums such as Early Help forums, Signs of Safety 
Leads, Domestic abuse and collaborative audits. 

 

Page 149



IRO Service Priorities 2019/20 

16 The IRO Service action plan sets out what needs to be done during 
2019/20 and these include:  

For children and young people involved in the child protection system: 

a) Increase the numbers of children and young people who want to 
attend their child protection meeting.  

b) Continue to ensure that plans for children and young people are 
robust and progress without delay. Make sure plans are written in 
a way that families and children can understand with a focus on 
impact on children and young people.  

c) IROs will continue to work alongside social workers and other 
professionals to promote better outcomes for children and young 
people at risk of harm.  

d)  Continue to embed the strength based approach when running 
meetings, to allow children and their families to fully participate. 

And for Children and Young People in Care: 

a)  Increase the numbers of Looked After Children who are actively 
involved in their review.  

b)  Continue to ensure that plans for children and young people are 
robust and that they progress without delay.  

c)  IROs will continue to work alongside social workers and other 
professionals to promote better outcomes for children and young 
people.  

d)  Ensure that all looked after children understand their plan and are 
part of the process when making these plans. 

Conclusion 

17 There has been an increase of demand on the service with the number 
of Children who are Looked After increase by 3%. The IRO service has 
continued to work in partnership with Children’s Services, CAFCASS 
and multi-agency partners to provide a quality of service. The 
participation of children within Looked After meetings is strong. The 
service continues to embed a strength-based approach to include 
children in the child in the child protection conference process.     

 

Page 150



Background papers 

•  None 

Other useful documents 

• Looked After Children Annual Report 

 

Author(s)  Sharon Davey    Tel: 03000 266214 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Service consult with legal service colleagues as appropriate in the course 

of their work. 

Finance 

There are no Direct Financial implications in this report. 

Consultation 

None. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

E&D issues are fully considered in the course of the IRO Service work. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

Compatible with Human Rights Act. 

Crime and Disorder 

Police colleagues play a full and vital role in the provision of information and 

decision making in the work of the team. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

Failure to implement the procedures consistently and effectively can lead to 

higher risk to children and young people. 

Procurement 

None. 

Page 152



Independent Reviewing Officer
 

Child Protection
Annual Report Summary
2018/19

Page 153

Agenda Item 12b



 

Role of the IRO within Child Protection
When there is a worry that a child is at risk of significant harm a Child Protection 
Conference will take place. This is a meeting to discuss the worries and concerns around 
the child. Decisions will be made around what needs to happen to make the child safe. 

The Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) will be responsible for chairing the meeting, 
making sure that the statutory functions required within child protection conferences are 
delivered in a robust way, in line with Durham’s Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(LSCB) Child Protection Procedures.

The law provides guidelines in relation to safeguarding children and sets out the 
responsibilities of the chair of the child protection conference (Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2018). This states that the chair is:

l Accountable to the Director of Children’s Services. Where possible, the same person 
should chair subsequent child protection reviews.

l They should be a professional, independent of operational and/or line management 
responsibilities for the case. 

l They should meet the child and parents in advance to ensure they understand the 
purpose and the process.

2

Total number of children subject to 
a CPP during the year.

Children and young people in the Child Protection Process (CPP) 
2018/19 

785 678

2017/18 2018/19

Children subject to a CPP. 
*As of March 31st  

2017/18 2018/19

496 403

Page 154



 

The child’s journey
The child’s journey through the child 
protection process can be daunting and 
confusing. It is the role of the IRO to 
ensure that the child or young person’s 
wishes and feelings are taken into 
account and that their needs are met 
through appropriate and proportionate 
challenge and scrutiny. The information 
at the end of this report details the key 
stages in the child’s journey through the 
child protection process and how the 
IRO assists the child or young person to 
cope.

Timeliness of Child Protection 
Reviews
It is important that child protection 
meetings take place within timescale. 
Initial Child Protection Conferences 
(ICPC) should take place within 15 
working days of the strategy meeting. 
This ensures that plans are put in place, 
which makes it clear what needs to 
happen and by who to keep children 
safe. Child Protection Reviews (CPR) 
look at progress made and consider 
whether the Child Protection Plan 
(CPP) needs to continue. IROs work 
hard to make sure there are no delays 
in reviews taking place. Some of the 
reasons reviews cannot take place are 
outside of anyone’s control. This may 
be due to availability of interpretor, 
children wishing to attend and needing 
time to prepare and other issues beyond 
control. Not all child protection meetings 
took place within the timescale and 
IROs will make this a priority for the next 
year.

3

Timeliness of Initial Child Protection 
Conferences.

69% 72%
2017/18 2018/19

Timeliness of Review Child Protection 
Conferences.

94% 98%
2017/18 2018/19

Page 155



 4

When IROs have worries
When an IRO has a worry about 
a child or feels that the plan is not 
progressing as it should be, they 
have a responsibility to raise this with 
Children’s Services managers. This is 
done through the Dispute Resolution 
Process (DRP). The social worker will 
work with the IRO to try to resolve any 
differences they may have in relation 
to a child’s or young person’s plan. 
The idea is that issues can be resolved 
quickly without the need to escalate 
to senior managers. The main DRP 
themes are in relation to delays in 
progressing plans.
 

When an IRO has concerns that other 
professionals working with the child 
and their family are not doing what is 
expected of them, they raise a multi-
agency challenge (MACP). This report 
is sent to the DSCB who will send it to 
the professional’s manager. 

Number of children where a dispute was 
raised;

5766
2018/19

2017/18

The Dispute Resolution cases were 
resolved via:

Reasons for submitting a dispute:           

2017/18 2018/19

41Informal Challenge 26% 14%

4155% 63%

4118% 19%
412% 4%
410% 0%

Stage 2

Stage 3

Stage 4

Stage 5-8

Concerns in relation to quality/
delay in assessments

Concerns in relation to planning

Concerns in relation to practice   

Concerns in relation to progress

2017/18 2018/19

4133% 5%

418% 14%

4115% 25%

4144% 56%

Page 156



 5

Engagement with children and 
young people
The National Youth Advocacy Service 
(NYAS) is available for children and 
young people who receive services 
from Durham County Council. The 
IRO service works closely with 
children’s services to promote the use 
of advocacy. All IRO’s will discuss 
with children and young people the 
use of advocacy. This has led to an 
improvement in the voice of the child 
being heard within Child Protection 
Conferences through advocates. There 
has been a significant increase in the 
use of advocacy within Child Protection 
Conferences. Since introducing a 
strength base approach to chairing 
meetings, we have found that planning 
for young people to attend meetings 
has been much easier and accessible. 
Furthermore, direct work which has 
been completed with the children and 
young people has been brought to 
meetings to capture the voice of the 
child and their views. 

Working with others
IROs work with partner agencies and 
participate in multiple working groups 
to improve outcomes for children and 
young people. 

The IRO Service work with a lot of 
different agencies and groups. This 
includes:

l Other IRO Services across the 
region and nationally.  

l National Youth Advocacy Service 
(NYAS).  

l Children & Family Court Advisory 
Support Service (CAFCASS) is well 
embedded into practice. 

The IRO service work with social work 
teams with the focus being on improving 
practice and outcomes for children and 
young people. Each IRO is allocated 
to a team within children’s services to 
offer advice, guidance and feedback in 
team meetings. They have produced 
monthly and quarterly performance 
reports to senior managers to support 
improvement work. However, due to 
a new recording system introduce 
in January 2019, these reports have 
recommenced in August 2019. They 
feed into the strategic groups to support 
in wider service improvements and 
identify any possible training needs 

How are we doing?

The number of young people 
who attend their Child Protection 
Conference remains very low. It is 
a priority for the IRO service in the 
coming year to work with children 
and young people to understand 
the reasons for this and ensure 
meetings are child friendly.

The IRO service continue to support 
the DSCB to facilitate Child Protection 
Conference Training following the 
strength based approach.

Page 157



 6

 

What needs to be done next?

 

 

 

‘The IRO was really good with 
the family. They explained the 
process and encouraged them 
to share their views.

Professional 

“
”

The meeting was conducted in 
a professional manner and gave 
time for the family to understand 
the worries and concerns. 
Professional

“
”

The IRO Service action plan sets out what needs to be done during 2019/20 including:

a) Increase the numbers of children and young people who want to attend their child 
protection meeing.

b) Continue to ensure that plans for children and young people are robust and progress 
without delay. Make sure plans are written in a way that families and children can 
understand with a focus on impact on children and young people..

c) IROs will continue to work alongside social workers and other professionals to 
promote better outcomes for children and young people at risk of harm.

d) Continue to embed the strength based approach when running meetings, to allow 
children and their families to fully participate. 

jac.tyler@durham.gov.uk

Jac Tyler, Operations Manager, IRO Service

 03000 262 155

For further information or to discuss anything in this report please contact

The new strength based approach 
felt more inclusive, focus was on 
the worries and harm to the child. 
Professional

“
”

Mother following strength based conference:

Much better way than the old way. I felt like 
you wanted to listen to what I thought and 
wanted to involve me.“

”

Page 158



 7

The Child’s Journey 
 

This child’s journery through the child protection process and how the IRO assists in the process.

Child	Protection	Annual	Report		
The	Child’s	Journey	

	

Child	Protection	Annual	Report		
The	Child’s	Journey	

	

Page 159



 

47692 CYPS

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

altformat.cas@durham.gov.uk
03000 261381

Page 160



Independent Reviewing Officer
 
 Looked After Children
Annual Report Summary
2018/19

Page 161

Agenda Item 12c



 

IROs also make sure that they talk 
to the local authority when they are 
worried about whether plans are 
progressing for children or young 
people. IROs will challenge the local 
authority if they disagree with the local 
authority’s plan for a child or young 
person. IROs will also tell the local 
authority about things that they are 
doing particularly well. 

IROs in County Durham also chair child 
protection conferences and work within 
Durham’s Safeguarding Children’s 
Board (DSCB) Child Protection 
Procedures.

What do IROs do?
The law states that all children and young people that become looked after must be 
appointed an Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO). The IRO Handbook (2010) sets out 
the requirements of the IROs in supporting children and young people who are in the care 
of the local authority. An IRO has an important role in making sure that children and young 
people’s care plans meet their needs. IROs are there to make sure that reviews are run 
properly, that children and young people’s views are listened to and their best interests are 
protected, and to ensure that children are only looked after as long as necessary.  

2

Number of Looked after Children in County 
Durham.*
*As of March 31st  

809 833

2017/18 2018/19

Total number of Looked after Children 
during the year. 

2017/18 2018/19

1195 1171
Page 162



 

We now monitor LAC reviews as 
part of our new monthly performance 
management framework, this has 
been consistently above 90% for those  
reviews held which were due in the 
month.

Children and young people in 
the care of County Durham 
The IROs chair Looked After Reviews 
(LARs) for all children, including those 
placed for adoption, those in short 
break respite care, young people who 
are remanded into the care of the 
local authority and those children on 
Care Orders who are placed with their 
families. The child’s journey through the 
looked after process is set out at the 
end of this report.

Timeliness of Looked After 
Reviews
It is important that children’s looked 
after reviews take place within specific 
timescales. This ensures that children 
and young people have the right plan 
and things are happening that should 
be. IROs work hard to make sure there 
are no delays in reviews taking place. 
Some of the reasons reviews cannot 
take place are outside of anyone’s 
control. 

The regulation states that children and 
young people should know their long-
term plan within 4 months of becoming 
looked after (their 2nd review). In 
2018/19 there has been an increase of 
children who’s plans were ratified at the 
4 month review. In the last 6 months this 
has increased to 56%. This is an area of 
development for the IRO service and the 
social work team for 2019/20.

3

Looked After Children’s 
Reviews held within the 
timescale

The meeting and information 
the IRO spoken about was like 
a breath of  fresh air.
Family Carer

“
”

Page 163



 

best support I could have asked 
for. She supported me and my 
family. My IRO is a fun, friendly 
and caring person.
Young person

“
”

When IROs have worries
The IRO handbook states that all 
local authorities must have a Dispute 
Resolution Process (DRP). This is where 
the social worker must work with the 
IRO to try to resolve any differences they 
may have in relation to a child’s or young 
person’s plan. The idea is that issues can 
be resolved quickly without the need to 
escalate to senior managers or for the 
need to go to court.

4

Number of children where a Dispute (DRP) 
was raised.

141139
2018/192017/18

Disputes raised were resolved via:
 

2017/18 2018/19

41Informal Challenge 17% 4%

4160% 67%

4116% 24%
417% 4%
410% 0%

Stage 2

Stage 3

Stage 4

Stage 5-8

Reasons for submitting a dispute:  
 

Concerns in relation to quality/
delay in assessments

Concerns in relation to planning

Concerns in relation to practice   

Concerns in relation to progress

2017/18 2018/19

4145% 11%

419% 57%

4121% 12%

4125% 19%

Page 164



 

Engagement with children and 
young people
All children who become looked after 
over the age of 4 years receive a letter 
telling them the name of their IRO and 
how they can get in contact with them. 
All children who have a review are 
offered the opportunity to speak to their 
IRO prior to and between their reviews. 
Children and young people can contact 
their IROs at any point between reviews 
if they are not happy with any aspect of 
their plan.

The IRO’s attend the Children In Care 
Council to support with events and 
feedback for changes needed in the 
service. 

We attend the young people experience 
group to look at young peoples 
participation. 

The following are case examples of the 
impact of the IRO role:

l A 17 year old young person 
contacted their IRO to challenge a 
decision made at a Looked After 
Meeting. This was surrounding 
a young person ‘s family time 
arrangements. The IRO has booked 
in a consultation with the young 
person to support a challenge.  

l  IRO’s have submitted statements 
to court to support and challenge 
care planning for children and 
young people. 

How are we doing?

5

The new letters from the IRO rather 
than notes from looked after meetings 
is more personal and much better to 
receive.
Young person

“
”

I can tell my IRO and he will sort it 
out for me. 
Young person

“ ”

IROs ensure that children and young people have the opportunity to participate within their 
review, that their voice is heard, and they feel they can contribute to decision making. 

Children and young people are also supported to:

l  Chair their own reviews.

l  Compile their individual agendas, which assists them in preparation for chairing and 
sharing views at their reviews.

l  Children will receive a letter rather than notes of the meeting. This will be more 
personal to the child or young person. 

I set my IRO challenges 
before the next meet. He 
does these and it shows he 
takes an interest in what I 
think. 
Parent/carer

“
”

The IRO service has appointed the last 2 IRO’s 
based on the balanced feedback from a young 
people panel as part of  the interview process. 
Young person

“
”

Page 165



 

Working with others
The IRO Service work with a lot of 
different agencies and groups.

Including:    

l  Other IRO Services across the 
region and nationally. 

l National Youth Advocacy Service 
(NYAS).

l National Youth Advocacy Service 
(NYAS). 

l National Youth Advocacy Service 
(NYAS).   

l  Children & Family Court Advisory 
Support Service (CAFCASS) is well 
embedded into practice. 

IRO work with social work teams 
with the focus being on improving 
practice and outcomes for children and 
young people. They have produced 
monthly and quarterly performance 
reports to senior managers to support 
improvement work and identify any 
training needs which may be required.

What needs to be done next?
The IRO Service action plan sets 
out what needs to be done during 
2019/20. 

Including:

a) Increase the numbers of Looked 
After Children who are actively 
involved in their review.

b) Continue to ensure that plans for 
children and young people are robust 
and that they progress without delay.

c) IROs will continue to work 
alongside social workers and other 
professionals to promote better 
outcomes for children and young 
people.

d)  Ensure that all looked after children 
understand their plan and are part 
of the process when making these 
plans.

 

I set my IRO tasks and make 
a game of  this to make my 
review fun.
Young person

“
”

jac.tyler@durham.gov.uk

Jac Tyler, Operations Manager, IRO Service

 03000 262 155

We have a chat rather       
than a meeting as I like      
this better.
Young person

“
”

My IRO is the best and I have 
had them he 8 years I have 
been looked after.
Young person 

“
”

For further information or to discuss anything in this report please contact

My IRO Cares. 
Young person“ ”

6
Page 166



 7

The Child’s Journey 
The information below contains the key stages in the child’s journey through the Looked 
After Child process and how the IRO assists the child or young person in this process.

Looked After Children Annual Report  
The Child’s Journey  

 

Looked After Children Annual Report  
The Child’s Journey  

 

Looked After Children Annual Report  
The Child’s Journey  

 

Page 167



 

47690 CYPS

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

altformat.cas@durham.gov.uk
03000 261381

Page 168



Document is Restricted

Page 169

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 2019
	8a Report of Strategic Lead, Progression and Learning
	8b Presentation
	9 Overview and Scrutiny Review, Children's Residential Care Homes - Report of Councillor Heather Smith, Chair of Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	10a Report of Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager
	10b Scorecard
	10c Presentation
	11a Report of Interim Virtual School Head
	11b Durham Virtual School Annual Report 2018-19
	Executive Summary Children in care 2018-19 (unvalidated data)
	Executive Summary Children in care 2018-19 (unvalidated data)
	Summary statement
	Summary statement
	Headlines
	Headlines
	Key Stage 1
	Key Stage 1
	Key Stage 2
	Key Stage 2
	Key Stage 1 -2 Progress
	Key Stage 1 -2 Progress
	Key Stage 4
	Key Stage 4
	Attendance and Exclusions
	Attendance and Exclusions
	School Stability
	School Stability
	Personal Education Plans and Pupil Premium Plus
	Personal Education Plans and Pupil Premium Plus

	1. Introduction
	1. Introduction
	2. Durham Virtual School
	2. Durham Virtual School
	2.1 What is our role and how well are we doing?
	2.1 What is our role and how well are we doing?
	2.2  Who are we?
	2.2  Who are we?
	2.3 Structure Diagram
	2.3 Structure Diagram
	2.3 Structure Diagram
	2.4  Who do we report to and how are we held accountable?
	2.4  Who do we report to and how are we held accountable?

	3. Profile of learners and numbers on roll at the virtual school
	3. Profile of learners and numbers on roll at the virtual school
	3.1  How many learners are on roll?
	3.1  How many learners are on roll?
	3.2  What is the profile of the cohort?
	3.2  What is the profile of the cohort?
	3.3  How well do we promote placement and school stability?
	3.3  How well do we promote placement and school stability?
	3.4  How many of the cohort have Special Educational Needs (SEND)?
	3.4  How many of the cohort have Special Educational Needs (SEND)?
	Table 4:  Number of CLA with SEND by year group July 2019 (for academic year 2018-19)
	Table 4:  Number of CLA with SEND by year group July 2019 (for academic year 2018-19)
	3.5  What are the primary needs of our cohort with an EHCP?
	3.5  What are the primary needs of our cohort with an EHCP?
	3.6  How do virtual school caseworkers support children in care with identified special educational needs?
	3.6  How do virtual school caseworkers support children in care with identified special educational needs?
	3.7  How do we collaborate to support children in care with identified SEN?
	3.7  How do we collaborate to support children in care with identified SEN?

	4. Duties to previously looked after children
	4. Duties to previously looked after children
	4.1  How do we meet our duty towards previously looked after children?
	4.1  How do we meet our duty towards previously looked after children?
	4.2  How many previously looked after children of statutory school age are there?
	4.2  How many previously looked after children of statutory school age are there?

	5. Achievement and Progress
	5. Achievement and Progress
	5.1  How well do our children achieve in Early Years?
	5.1  How well do our children achieve in Early Years?
	5.2  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 1?
	5.2  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 1?
	Table 5: Reporting cohort KS1 29 children
	Table 5: Reporting cohort KS1 29 children
	5.3  What does the phonics data tell us?
	5.3  What does the phonics data tell us?
	5.4  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 2?
	5.4  How well do our children achieve at Key Stage 2?
	Table 5:  Reporting Cohort KS2
	Table 5:  Reporting Cohort KS2
	Table 6: Reporting Cohort Gender Gap at KS2
	Table 6: Reporting Cohort Gender Gap at KS2
	Table 6: Reporting Cohort Gender Gap at KS2
	Table 7: Reporting Cohort SEND
	Table 7: Reporting Cohort SEND
	5.5  How much progress did our children make between KS1 and KS2?
	5.5  How much progress did our children make between KS1 and KS2?
	5.5  How much progress did our children make between KS1 and KS2?
	5.6  How well do our young people achieve in English and Maths KS4
	5.6  How well do our young people achieve in English and Maths KS4
	Table 8: KS4 English, Maths and Basics Outcomes
	Table 8: KS4 English, Maths and Basics Outcomes
	Table 9: Gender Breakdown at KS4
	Table 9: Gender Breakdown at KS4
	5.7  How well do our young people achieve across all subjects (A8 and P8)?
	5.7  How well do our young people achieve across all subjects (A8 and P8)?
	5.8  How well do our young people achieve and participate at KS5 / post 16?
	5.8  How well do our young people achieve and participate at KS5 / post 16?
	5.9  What were the destinations for our young people?
	5.9  What were the destinations for our young people?
	Table 11: Destinations post 16 2018
	Table 11: Destinations post 16 2018
	Table 12: Destinations post 16 2017
	Table 12: Destinations post 16 2017
	Table 13  Destinations post 16 2016
	Table 13  Destinations post 16 2016
	5.10  How do we support our young people to ensure they participate in EET?
	5.10  How do we support our young people to ensure they participate in EET?
	Table 13:   2015 –18 Participation in EET of Children Looked After / Care Leavers aged 16 +
	Table 13:   2015 –18 Participation in EET of Children Looked After / Care Leavers aged 16 +
	5.11  How well do our young people achieve and participate in Higher Education?
	5.11  How well do our young people achieve and participate in Higher Education?
	5.12  How did we make a difference for care leavers?
	5.12  How did we make a difference for care leavers?
	5.12  How did we make a difference for care leavers?

	6. Attendance and Exclusion
	6. Attendance and Exclusion
	6.1  How well do our young people attend school?
	6.1  How well do our young people attend school?
	Table 14:  Absence rates for children in care 2018 (most recent whole year data)
	Table 14:  Absence rates for children in care 2018 (most recent whole year data)
	Table 14:  Absence rates for children in care 2018 (most recent whole year data)
	Tables 15/16 Absence Trends for children in care 2016-18
	Tables 15/16 Absence Trends for children in care 2016-18
	6.2  How many of our young people have been excluded?
	6.2  How many of our young people have been excluded?
	6.2  How many of our young people have been excluded?
	Table 17:  Fixed term Exclusions
	Table 17:  Fixed term Exclusions

	7. Admissions, transitions, managed moves and OOC placements
	7. Admissions, transitions, managed moves and OOC placements
	7.1  How many children moved school mid-year?
	7.1  How many children moved school mid-year?
	7.2  How many of our children experienced managed moves?
	7.2  How many of our children experienced managed moves?
	7.3  How many of our children are placed in out of county education settings?
	7.3  How many of our children are placed in out of county education settings?

	8. Personal Education Plans (PEP), (PP+) and Academic Progress
	8. Personal Education Plans (PEP), (PP+) and Academic Progress
	8.1  How does the virtual school ensure the quality of the PEPS?
	8.1  How does the virtual school ensure the quality of the PEPS?
	8.2  What information does the PEP record?
	8.2  What information does the PEP record?
	8.2  What information does the PEP record?
	8.3  What is the quality of the PEPs?
	8.3  What is the quality of the PEPs?
	Table 18: Quality of PEPs Statutory School Age 2018-19
	Table 18: Quality of PEPs Statutory School Age 2018-19
	8.4  How do we distribute pupil premium plus funding?
	8.4  How do we distribute pupil premium plus funding?
	8.5  What is the centrally held budget spent on?
	8.5  What is the centrally held budget spent on?
	Table 19: How we spent the retained PP+
	Table 19: How we spent the retained PP+
	8.6  What academic support and intervention do we provide from central funding?
	8.6  What academic support and intervention do we provide from central funding?
	8.7  What therapeutic support do we provide from central funding?
	8.7  What therapeutic support do we provide from central funding?
	8.8  How do schools spend their allocation?
	8.8  How do schools spend their allocation?
	Table 20: How schools spent their PP+ budget
	Table 20: How schools spent their PP+ budget
	Table 20: How schools spent their PP+ budget

	9. Training Provision
	9. Training Provision
	10. Support for mental and emotional wellbeing
	10. Support for mental and emotional wellbeing
	10.1  What screening takes place?
	10.1  What screening takes place?
	10.2  How does our Educational Psychologist make a difference?
	10.2  How does our Educational Psychologist make a difference?
	Examples of impact include:
	Examples of impact include:
	10.3  How do our counsellors make a difference?
	10.3  How do our counsellors make a difference?
	Feedback from children and young people:
	Feedback from children and young people:

	11. Voice of the Young Person
	11. Voice of the Young Person
	11. Voice of the Young Person
	12. Enrichment, Unleashing Aspiration and Celebration
	12. Enrichment, Unleashing Aspiration and Celebration
	12.1  What do we currently offer?
	12.1  What do we currently offer?
	12.2  What are we planning for 2019-20 to support enrichment?
	12.2  What are we planning for 2019-20 to support enrichment?
	12.3  How do we celebrate success?
	12.3  How do we celebrate success?
	12.3  How do we celebrate success?

	13. Summary
	13. Summary
	14. Outline Priorities for 2019-20
	14. Outline Priorities for 2019-20
	15. Recommendation
	15. Recommendation

	11c Presentation
	12a Report of Operations Manager
	12b Independent Reviewing Officer - Child Protection Annual Report Summary 2018/19
	12c Independent Reviewing Officer - Looked After Children Annual Report Summary 2018/19
	15 Regulation 44 visits - Summary Report - Joint Report of Head of Children's Social Care and Head of Early Help Inclusion and Vulnerable Children

